# Searching for an Exclusion Mechanism in the Evolution of Neurotransmitter Receptor Subunits

Eyre Nomi Institute of Parasitology McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada April 2021

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree of Masters of Science

© Eyre Nomi, 2021

# **Table of Contents**

Fable of contents				
Acknowledgments	4			
Contribution of authors	5			
Abbreviations				
List of figures	7			
List of tables	8			
Abstract	9			
Abrégé	10			
1. Introduction	12			
1.1 Rationale	12			
1.2 Background	13			
1.2.1 Neurotransmission	13			
1.2.2 The Origin of pLGIC	14			
1.2.3 Nematodes	14			
1.3 Hypothesis	15			
1.4 Specific Aims	15			
2. Literature Review	16			
2.1 Gene Duplication				
2.1.1 What is Gene Duplication?	16			
2.1.2 Gene Duplication Event	17			
2.1.3 Gene Duplication and Gene Dosage	18			
2.1.4 Purifying Selection	19			
2.1.5 Positive Selection	19			
2.1.6 Pseudogenization	19			
2.1.7 Subfunctionalization	20			
2.1.8 Co-option	20			
2.1.9 Neofunctionalization	20			
2.1.10 Fixation	21			
2.1.11 What Kinds of Genes Tend to Undergo Duplication Events?	21			
2.1.12 Gene Duplication in pLGIC	22			

	2.2	2 nAChR Subunits		
		2.2.1 DEG-3 Subfamily		
		2.2.2 Subunit Structure		
		2.2.3 nAChR Binding Sites		
	2.3	Experimental Model		
	2.4	Detecting Differences in Evolutionary Selection Pressure		
3.	Method	ls		
	3.1	Cloning		
	3.2	cRNA Synthesis		
	3.3	Animals		
	3.4	Oocyte injections		
	3.5	Electrophysiology		
	3.6	Bioinformatics		
	3.7	Data Analysis		
4.	Results	and Discussion		
	4.1	Substitution Rate Analysis		
	4.2	Electrophysiology		
		4.2.1 Receptor Expression and EC <sub>50</sub> Calculations		
		4.2.2 Poisoning Receptor Function with Truncated Subunits		
		4.2.3 Oocyte Variability		
		4.2.4 Determining an Internal Control for the Poisoning Experiment		
		4.2.5 Confirming Internal Controls		
		4.2.6 Poisoning Experiment Using Internal Controls	50	
		4.2.7 Poisoning Receptor Function With Truncated Subunits	52	
	4.3	Cytotoxic Effect of ACR-20	53	
5.	Conclu	sion	56	
	5.1	Future Work	57	
	5.3	Impact of the Covid Pandemic	58	
	5.4	Implications of Findings	59	
6.	Referen	ces	60	

# Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the support and guidance of my supervisor, Dr. Robin Beech. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to work under your supervision, for giving me the freedom and space to work on my project, and for being generous with your time. I would also like to thank my advisory committee member, Dr. Igor Cestari, for providing insightful feedback during our meetings, for having confidence in my work, and for lending me that wonderful book on paradigm shifts in science. It changed my world. I am appreciative for gifts of cDNA and Dme-acr-16 RNA from Jennifer Noonan, and to all past and present members of the Beech lab. Thank you, Kathy Keller, for gifting *H. contortus* cDNA and for helping me do my part to keep the lab clean and safe. I thank WormBase for providing an opensource resource for the genome sequences used in this project. I acknowledge all the funding sources which facilitated my research: the NSERC CGS-M Scholarship, the grants provided to Dr. Robin Beech, and the Graduate Excellence Fellowship. Special thanks to Norma L. Bautista-López for helping me with laboratory equipment and brightening my days with our cheery chats. Your kindness is appreciated. Thank you Dr. Thavy Long for training me on the midiprep protocol that helped me increase DNA yields in my plasmid extractions. I would also like to give special thanks to Emily Curry for helping me polish my presentations and guiding me through statistical analysis, to Gaby Madrigal for the countless times of laughter and for reminding me why I am passionate about science, and to Jysiane Cardot and Kristen Lee for all your support and feedback throughout my writing process. A very special thank you to Tsai-Chi Shang Kuan for your encouragement, sage advice, and for being a role model of the kind of scientist I strive to be, and to Nawal El Ahdab for our fascinating discussions of biology, geometry, and pedagogy. Very special thanks to Mariève Isabel and the rest of the Graphos Team for the bi-weekly writing sessions that were essential to motivating me to write. I will never forget the wonderful community of writers I had the honor of joining, and I treasure our time spent together. Thank you Amelie Lens and Charlotte de Witte for providing the soundtrack to my studies and inspiring me to succeed. Finally, endless thanks to my friends and family for your unconditional support through difficult times of loss, and for believing in me no matter what. I could not have done it without all of you.

# **Contribution of Authors**

All parts of this manuscript were written by Eyre Nomi. Revisions and corrections were provided by supervisor Dr. Robin Beech.

All experiments and analysis presented in this manuscript were performed by Eyre Nomi.

Dr. Robin Beech originated the idea for this project, designed primers, helped in troubleshooting, and provided the phylogenetic tree used in bioinformatics analysis. Jennifer Noonan provided a portion of lab training, TEVC electrophysiology training, *Dme-acr-16* RNA, and provided *Xenopus* oocytes. Marcus Kaji also provided a portion of lab training and technical support with the electrophysiology system. All other work shown in this thesis was performed by myself.

# Abbreviations

AAD = Amino-acetonitrile derivative

- AChR = Acetylcholine receptorscDNA = Complementary DNA $EC_{50} = Half maximal concentration$ HGI = Helminth Genome InitiativeLGIC = Ligand-gated ion channelsMR = Mineralocorticoid receptorMS-222 = 0.15% tricaine methanesulfonate solutionPAML = Phylogenetic analysis by maximum likelihoodTEVC = Two-electrode voltage clampTM = TransmembraneUTR = Untranslated regionmAChR = Muscarinic acetylcholine receptorsnAChR = Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors
- pLGIC =Pentameric ligand-gated ion-channel

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1. Phylogenetic tree showing both branch and clade models	
Figure 2. Concentration-response curves for betaine	43
Figure 3. Confirmation of poisoning effect	45
Figure 4. Confirmation of internal control	48
Figure 5. Confirmation of linear relationship between acetylcholine and betaine	49
Figure 6. Normalized Poisoning Experiment	51
Figure 7. Oocyte membrane integrity assay	54
Figure 8. Viability assay comparing oocyte clamping values	

# List of Tables

Table 1. PAML analysis results	36
Table 2. PAML tree model rate classes	39
Table 3. Chi-Squared Test on tree model comparisons	40

# Abstract

Pentameric ligand-gated ion-channels (pLGIC) are neurotransmitter receptors that mediate fast synaptic transmission and muscle contraction in animals. At the neuromuscular junction, ligand binding allows either cations or anions to pass through the post-synaptic cell membrane and induce or inhibit muscle contraction, respectively. The pLGIC subunit family arose before eukaryotes diverged from prokaryotes, then expanded to a family that binds a diverse repertoire of ligands. This expansion occurred through gene duplication followed by functional divergence, a process constrained by the mechanisms of subunit assembly and receptor processing. Therefore, details of this evolutionary process will reveal features of these underlying mechanisms.

Subunit gene duplication initially creates identical gene copies, whose respective protein products may co-assemble into one receptor. Eventually, the genes may evolve to produce two distinct subunits that do not interact, producing separate, distinct homomeric receptors. If this has occurred recently, then minimal sequence change should allow identification of the mechanisms responsible.

This study investigates two paralogous subunits, Cel-ACR-20 and Cel-ACR-23, from the freeliving nematode, *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Both are the products of gene duplications within the *Caenorhabitis* group, some 100 MYA, from their common ancestor, MPTL-1. These subunits form homomeric betaine receptors, providing a model to examine the possible evolution of mutual exclusion. This may be through physical exclusion, or spatial or temporal separation of gene expression. The first of these is addressed in this thesis.

Codon substitution rate analysis provided evidence that selection pressure was different for MPTL-1 and its two descendants, consistent with a change in function. Reconstitution of receptors in *Xenopus* oocytes and two-electrode voltage clamp electrophysiology found no evidence for the formation of a heteromer between Cel-ACR-20 and Cel-ACR-23. A more sensitive test was implemented, using the ability of truncated, non-functional versions of each subunit to incorporate into and inhibit the formation of functional receptors. Inhibition of the cognate receptor and failure to inhibit a receptor formed from the other subunit suggests that the protein sequence from the signal peptide to the end of the second transmembrane region has adapted to prevent binding of the two subunits to form a heteromer.

This work establishes a model system with which the specific mechanism that excludes two subunits from co-assembling may be determined in future. Since pLGICs are an important anthelmintic drug target, understanding the regulation of subunit oligomerization can strengthen our current understanding of how anthelminthic targets may change in parasitic nematodes and model organisms.

# Abrégé

Récepteurs ionotropes pentamériques (pLGIC) sont des récepteurs de neurotransmetteurs qui assurent une transmission synaptique rapide et une contraction musculaire chez les animaux. A la jonction neuromusculaire, la liaison des ligands permet aux cations ou aux anions de passer à travers la membrane cellulaire post-synaptique et d'induire ou d'inhiber la contraction musculaire. D'un point de vu évolutif, la famille des sous-unités pLGIC est apparue avant que les eucaryotes ne divergent des procaryotes, puis s'est étendue à une famille qui lie un répertoire varié de ligands. Cette expansion s'est produite par la duplication de gènes suivie d'une divergence fonctionnelle, un processus contraint par des mécanismes d'assemblage des sous-unités et de traitement des récepteurs. Par conséquent, les détails de ce processus évolutif révéleront les caractéristiques de ces mécanismes sous-jacents.

La duplication du gène de la sous-unité crée initialement des copies de gènes identiques, dont les produits protéiques respectifs peuvent s'assembler en un seul récepteur. Finalement, les gènes peuvent évoluer pour produire deux sous-unités distinctes qui n'interagissent pas, produisant des récepteurs homomériques séparés et distincts. Si ce phénomène s'est produit récemment, une modification minimale de la séquence devrait permettre d'identifier les mécanismes responsables. Cette étude porte sur deux sous-unités paralogues, Cel-ACR-20 et Cel-ACR-23, du nématode vivant de façon autonome, *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Toutes deux sont les produits de duplications de gènes au sein du groupe *Caenorhabditis*, qui se sont produit il y a environ 100 millions d'années, les séparant de leur ancêtre commun, MPTL-1. Ces sous-unités forment des récepteurs homomériques activés par la bétaïne, fournissant un modèle pour examiner l'évolution possible de l'exclusion mutuelle. Cela peut se faire par l'exclusion physique, ou par la séparation spatiale ou temporelle de l'expression des gènes. La première de ces sous-unités est abordée dans cette thèse.

L'analyse du taux de substitution des codons a fourni la preuve que la pression de la sélection était différente pour la MPTL-1 et ses deux descendants, ce qui correspond à un changement de fonction. La reconstitution des récepteurs dans les ovocytes de *Xenopus* et l'étude électrophysiologique en potentiel imposé deux électrodes n'ont pas réussi à fournir la preuve de la formation d'un hétéromère entre Cel-ACR-20 et Cel-ACR-23. Un test plus sensible a été mis en place, utilisant la capacité des versions tronquées et non fonctionnelles de chaque sous-unité à s'incorporer dans les récepteurs fonctionnels et à en inhiber la formation. L'inhibition du récepteur apparenté et l'échec de l'inhibition d'un récepteur formé à partir de l'autre sous-unité suggèrent que la séquence protéique du peptide signal à l'extrémité de la seconde région transmembranaire s'est adaptée pour empêcher la liaison des deux sous-unités pour former un hétéromère.

10

Ce travail a établit un modèle de système avec lequel le mécanisme spécifique qui exclut deux sous-unités du co-assemblage peut être déterminé. Puisque les pLGICs sont une cible importante des médicaments anthelminthiques, la compréhension de la régulation de l'oligomérisation des sous-unités aide à renforcer notre compréhension actuelle de la façon dont les cibles anthelminthiques peuvent changer chez les nématodes parasitaires et l'organisme modèle de laboratoire vivant en autonomie.

# **1-Introduction**

# 1.1 Rational

Pentameric ligand-gated ion channels (pLGICs) are ubiquitous metazoan structures that play a critical role in muscle contraction and motility, and are common anthelmintic drug targets (Berridge, 2014). Knowledge of their structure and function has led to a detailed understanding of the action of a variety of pharmacologically active drug classes, including antidepressants, anesthetics and anthelmintics (Dwyer et al., 2014).

While the structural organization and coordinated motion of pLGIC subunits during channel gating is well characterized, the mechanisms that regulate which subunits co-assemble and produce functional receptors remains unclear. Different configurations of pLGIC subunits can alter the biochemical activity of the overall ion channel, which can be useful for organisms that need to make rapid, nuanced adaptations in response to changing environmental conditions or somatic structures at different life cycle stages. In fact, receptor composition has been found to differ between even closely related nematodes (Boulin et al., 2008, 2011, Buxton et al., 2014).

Novel subunit types arise by gene duplication followed by adaptation. How this occurs can reveal details of the mechanisms regulating receptor assembly and function. Investigation of recent duplication of the *unc-29* gene in the trichostrongylid nematode *Haemonchus contortus* revealed that ligand binding and sensitivity to a variety of ligands changed little, while a major change occurred in the interaction between UNC-29 and other subunits in the levamisole sensitive acetylcholine receptor (L-AChR) (Duguet et al., 2016).

Ideally, a simpler system could provide a model to investigate details of such subunit interaction, such as the scenario where a single gene that encodes a homomeric receptor has duplicated to produce two subunits that each encode a separate homomeric receptor. One possible example can be found in the homomeric MPTL-1 betaine receptor that confers sensitivity to monepantel in parasitic nematodes. This gene has duplicated within the *Caenorhaditis* group of nematodes to produce the homomeric receptors ACR-20 and ACR-23 (Peden et al., 2013, Rufener et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). The correspondence between resistance to monepantel and loss of each gene suggests the target receptor is not heteromeric. One possibility, that is investigated in this thesis, is that an intrinsic incompatibility has evolved between ACR-20 and ACR-23 to prevent formation of a heteromer.

The theory of how gene duplication leads to novel functions is relatively well understood (Ohno, 1970, Taylor & Raes, 2004). Typically, the functional adaptation of new genes occurs against a

relatively stable background of other cellular functions. However, in the case of pLGIC proteins that co-assemble, evolution acts additionally on the interactions between duplicate gene copies. This aspect of gene duplicate evolution is remains understudied. The goal for characterization of subunit interaction between ACR-20 and ACR-23 is to establish a model system that could later be used to investigate details of this evolutionary process.

# **1.2 Background**

# **1.2.1** Neurotransmission

Neurotransmission is fundamental for animal life, mediating both central nervous system activity and muscular movement. Neurotransmitters act as ligands at chemical synapses for specific post-synaptic receptors that are activated upon ligand binding. When a presynaptic neuron is excited, it fuses vesicles containing neurotransmitter with the surface membrane and delivers them into the synaptic cleft. The neurotransmitter then binds to receptors on the postsynaptic cell that can be a neuron or muscle cell.

There are two main classes of receptors responsible for neurotransmission, metabotropic receptors and ionotropic receptors (Voglis & Tavernarakis, 2006). Metabotropic receptors, also known as G-protein-coupled receptors, result in slow chemical neurotransmission via signal transduction cascades, whereby neutotransmitter binding amplifies chemical signals in a series of indirect, downstream, sequential reactions (Voglis & Tavernarakis, 2006). An example of this is found in serotonin receptors that mediate both excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission on other neurons.

Pentameric ligand-gated ion channnels (pLGIC) are ionotropic receptors responsible for fast acting neurotransmission (Voglis & Tavernarakis, 2006). This involves a ligand binding directly to its binding site on the extracellular side of its specific receptor, causing a conformational change in the receptor that allows ion flow across the cell membrane. This changes the membrane potential of the cell, and can result in polarization, depolarization, or hyperpolariation of the post-synaptic cell, propagating or blocking an electrical signal for a variety of downstream events. Motile organisms manage patterns of excitatory and inhibitory membrane potential changes to control muscular motion in a rapid and coordinated manner (Wolstenholme, 2011). Every animal that moves does so because of fast synaptic transmission. This makes ligand-gated ion channels both ubiquitous and highly conserved structures.

Random drug screens of anthelmintic compounds show that the most common targets are pLGIC neurotransmitter receptors belonging to the nicotinic acetylcholine superfamily (Greenberg, 2014). These nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR) mediate fast synaptic transmission and muscle

contraction in animals, and even some prokaryotes (Smart & Paoletti, 2012, Courtot et al., 2015). Ligand binding allows either cations or anions to pass through the post-synaptic cell membrane and induce, or inhibit, muscle contraction, respectively. For example, in nematodes, acetylcholine receptors are permeable to cations and cause neuronal excitation, while GABA and glutamate receptors are permeable to anions and cause inhibition to mediate cell excitability (Smart & Paoletti, 2012).

# 1.2.2 The Origin of pLGIC

The specific origins of pLGIC are unknown but likely predate the split between eukaryotes and prokaryotes (Tasneem et al., 2004). Homologs of metazoan pLGICs have been found in prokaryotic species, suggesting that rudimentary pLGIC structures were initially acquired through lateral gene transfer from prokaryotic species. Since then, a wide diversity of pLGIC have evolved as the result of gene duplication events followed by functional divergence.

More than 550 million years ago, the Cambrian Explosion gave rise to the enormous complexity of the metazoans (Erwin, 2015). As animals began to inhabit different and more complex environments, demands for new body structures and complex, coordinated movement guided their evolution. To accommodate the increasing complexity of somatic structures involved in motility, pLGIC evolved to form many kinds of receptors that respond to different activating ligands (Pless & Sivilotti, 2018). While pLGIC are highly conserved structures, any change in their binding affinity for other subunits or ligand specificity can cause dramatic changes in neurotransmission (Jaiteh et al., 2016, Pless & Sivilotti, 2018). Understanding more about the mechanisms involved in functional divergence following a gene duplication event can tell us more about how subunits interactions evolve and what determines receptor composition.

# 1.2.3 Nematodes

Nematodes are well suited for use as lab models, as they have many complete genome sequences published, transparent bodies allowing internal structures to be visualized, a diversity of pLGICs, and even have complete connectomes mapped (White et al., 1986, Blaxter, 2011). This also means the *acr-20*, and *acr-23* receptors used as a model for this study have been characterized (Peden et al., 2013, Rufener et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015).

The phylum Nematoda has a high degree of genetic diversity as well, and a large repertoire of duplicated genes on which dynamic and ongoing evolution is acting. Nematoda includes both freeliving and parasitic species, although both the high rate of gene duplication events and the adaptability the phylum represents lends towards parasitic adaptations and the acquisition of new hosts or niches (Blaxter et al., 1998).

The Helminth Genome Initiative (HGI) is a global community of researchers working to provide high quality, annotated genome data for parasitic nematodes causing infection (Howe et al., 2016, International Helminth Genomes Consortium, 2019). Through this project, genomes for more than 80 different nematode species from all five major nematode clades are publicly available in repositories such as WormBase ParaSite, which seeks to compile all available genomic data on parasitic worm species (Howe et al., 2016, International Helminth Genomes Consortium, 2019). Since many sequences for *mptl-1*, *acr-20* and *acr-23* were required to do the bioinformatic analysis for this project, this database provided the data required for the bioinformatics analysis in this project.

# **1.3 Hypothesis**

A recently duplicated homomeric subunit gene will be identical to the original copy, unless there is a mutation associated with the duplication event. Both genes will therefore have the potential to combine into a heteromeric receptor. Over time, the subunits will diverge in sequence and may acquire different functional characteristics. Paralogous subunits that ultimately produce homomeric receptors may have acquired some mechanism to inhibit the formation of heteromers. Since exclusively homomeric receptors are observed in nature, such as ACR-16 in *C. elegans* (Charvet et al., 2018), some mechanism of exclusion must have evolved to prevent the formation of heteromers. Therefore, this project hypothesizes there exists a mechanism that evolved to prevent certain homomeric subunits from co-assembling into a heteromeric receptor in vivo. This could be an intrinsic incompatibility, a separation in space or in time, or any combination of these. In the case of the ACR-20 and ACR-23 subunits from *C. elegans*, I hypothesize that they have evolved some physical incompatibility to reduce the formation of a heteromeric receptor.

## **1.4 Specific Aims**

This project implemented both *in silico* and wet lab work. First, evidence for functional change in *acr-20* and *acr-23* was explored by detecting differences in evolutionary pressure using analysis of codon substitution rates. Reconstitution of ACR-20 and ACR-23 functional homomers and a baseline functional profile for these receptors was established and concentration-response curves for betaine were determined to verify the maximum response and  $EC_{50}$  values for each homomer.

Evidence for any functional heteromer between ACR-20 and ACR-23 was evaluated from the concentration-response curve for betaine when co-injecting their respective RNA into the same oocyte.

Non-functional, truncated subunits were designed that interrupt normal receptor function, presumably by integration into the receptor. Interaction between the truncated and full-length versions of each subunit was demonstrated, but not so for each subunit against the other, consistent with an evolved exclusion mechanism.

# 2- Literature Review

The goal of this thesis is to investigate a specific feature of a proposed model of the evolution of homomeric pentameric ligand-gated ion-channels, specifically that homomeric receptors that derive from a homomeric ancestor should display some mechanism that prevents formation of heteromeric receptors. The following literature review provides background information to understand the process and consequences of gene duplication, the general structure and function of the receptors used in the study, and the rationale of choosing the *acr-20*, and *acr-23* subunits specifically as the experimental model.

# 2.1 Gene Duplication

This study aims to understand the events immediately following a recent gene duplication event in ion channel subunits, and how new functions that arise in duplicate genes affect subunit interaction. Therefore, it is useful to understand what happens during a gene duplication event and how new functions emerge.

# 2.1.1 What is Gene Duplication?

Gene duplication is a random event that can happen during DNA replication, with vertical transmission leading to two identical copies of a gene within a genome where previously there was only a single copy (Lipinski et al., 2011). Duplications may range in size from parts of a single gene, for example *avr-14* and *unc-49* in the nematode *C. elegans*, up to many hundreds of genes or even an entire genome (Jones & Sattelle, 2008, Gout & Lynch, 2015).

Gene duplication is a common occurrence. According to observations on genomic datasets from eukaryotic species, gene duplicates arise at an average rate of roughly 1% per gene per million years (Lynch & Conery, 2000). In some organisms, such as *C. elegans*, gene duplication is common enough to make gene copy-number polymorphisms the dominant kind of mutation over nucleotide substitutions or deletions (Lipinski et al., 2011). The gene duplication rate in *C. elegans* is two orders of magnitude greater than its rate of spontaneous point mutations per nucleotide site, at 10<sup>-7</sup> duplications per gene per generation (Lipinski et al., 2011). The frequency of gene copy-number polymorphisms is affected by the rate of spontaneous duplication as well as the probability of evolutionary pressures, such as natural selection, genetic drift, and various mutations, acting to preserve or eliminate the duplicated gene in the genome (Otto & Yong, 2002, Zhang, 2003, Lipinski et al., 2011).

Within a population, genomes carrying newly duplicate genes can increase and decrease in frequency at random unless the mutation is harmful, in which case it will be eventually lost (Kimura & Ohta, 1974, Lynch & Conery, 2000). A duplication is said to become fixed when all individuals within the population carry the new variant.

This study focuses on the fate of individual genes that have undergone a recent gene duplication event and are fixed, or are in the process of becoming fixed, in *C. elegans* as a distinct and measurable target. This allows for the analysis of an acquired mechanism to prevent interaction between the two paralogous genes.

# 2.1.2 The Gene Duplication Event

Before a gene duplication event, a gene first exists in an individual organism, typically as one copy. During the replication process, the gene can be randomly duplicated. There are now two copies of that gene in the genome of the individual. What happens to this identical copy?

Most commonly, the duplicated gene is inactive and accumulates mutations that do not experience selective pressure (Lynch & Conery, 2000, Dittmar & Liberles, 2010). If one of the copies acquires an inactivating mutation it will ultimately be lost from the population with no consequence for the organism (Lynch, 2002).

In cases where both gene copies are retained there are different possible outcomes for the two genes. These include increased expression of the gene product from multiple genes, altered regulation of one copy so they are expressed in different locations or at different times, division of existing functions between the two copies and the acquisition of new functionality.

Finally, and only very rarely, the duplicated gene can be retained in the organism's genome and accumulate mutations over time through its progeny (Hurles, 2004). Random genetic drift then causes each gene copy to drift apart in sequence similarity. Selection pressure acts on each gene copy individually to retain genes that confer neutral or positive traits, while removing organisms with deleterious mutations from the population (Lynch et al., 2001). Where there is a lack of purifying selection pressure, the duplicated gene is spread through the population so that most individuals have this gene, at which point the gene is determined to be fixed (Innan & Kondrashov, 2010).

#### 2.1.3 Gene Duplication and Gene Dosage

Gene duplication can be understood as a recurring process that reaches an equilibrium, defined by the ratio between the rate of gene duplicate formation and deletion (Zhao et al., 2015). This dosage balance promotes the retention of interaction networks, as changes in gene product stoichiometry could alter downstream protein expression and assembly, potentially altering the fitness of the organism.

Scientists generally agree that an increase in genetic redundancy relaxes the constraints of selective pressure (Lynch & Conery, 2000, Keane et al., 2014, Rodrigo & Poyatos, 2016). Under conditions of neutral selection pressure, duplicated genes can be thought of as the medium evolution uses to give rise to novel structures and functions. Since shortcomings in gene expression for one duplicate can be compensated for by the other, far more neutral mutations can be tolerated and silently propagate at higher rates than any other type of mutation (Rodrigo & Poyatos, 2016). This allows the duplicated gene to silently spread through the population at random simply because the consequences of carrying an extra gene copy have no significant effect on survival. In this way, gene duplication events can be considered the medium evolution acts upon to give rise to novel structures and functions, the majority of which are nonsense mutations and are cleared from the population unnoticed (Katju, 2012). It is specifically because these duplicated genes are expendable that an organism can accommodate neutral mutations without killing off the population. This is where mutations leading to a change in protein function becomes possible.

# **2.1.4 Purifying Selection**

Purifying selection remains present at all stages of a gene duplication event (Innan & Kondrashov, 2010). While genetic redundancy can shield duplicate genes from purifying selection, any change in sequence that has an adverse effect on existing structures and functions, or that takes too great a toll on the cellular resources, tend to be negatively selected against and eliminated from the population (Innan & Kondrashov, 2010).

# 2.1.5 Positive Selection

Positive selection favors the survival of organisms with mutations in their duplicate gene copies that allow for better adaptation to the environment. Positive selection favors mutations that improve the organism's ability to respond to its environment, such as a change in substrate specificity, acquisition of new somatic structures such as limbs, or resistance to drugs (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). Positive selection can also act on increased gene dosage, especially where the speed of a biological process is affected by levels of gene expression. An example is the *mdr1* gene, which encodes the drug efflux pump P-glycoprotein in the malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum* (Conant & Wolfe, 2008).

### 2.1.6 Pseudogenization

The most common outcome for duplicate genes is pseudogenization (Rastogi & Liberles, 2005). In this process, duplicate genes accumulate mutations that disrupt regular gene function, but are not yet been deleted from the genome (Rastogi & Liberles, 2005). These tend to be found in the larger genomes of more complex eukaryotic organisms which contain sections of non-coding regions of DNA, such an introns, that may not directly experience the same level of selection as exons, where genes are actively transcribed (Lynch & Marinov, 2015). The genome of the nematode *L. loa,* for example, contains genes that are in the process of being lost. An example is the *glc-2* gene, a glutamate-gated chloride channel that exists as a functional copy in its close relative, *B. malayi* (Beech & Neveu, 2015). Some would argue that pseudogenes are an interim stage of genes that are in the process of being deleted from the genome by stochastic processes (Lynch & Marinov, 2015).

#### 2.1.7 Subfunctionalization

Subfunctionalization is a process similar to pseudogenization, but is achieved through the distribution of ancestral gene functions between its two duplicates (Rodrigo & Fares, 2018). Typically, each duplicate gene loses different subsets of the original function of the ancestral gene, thus dividing and distributing any number of the functions of the ancestral gene between them (Gout & Lynch, 2015). The more restricted but complementary set of sub-tasks allocated to each gene copy means both copies are required to maintain the functionality of the original gene (Lynch, 2002). This makes duplicate genes that have undergone subfunctionalization more likely to be maintained in the population (Lynch, 2002).

#### 2.1.8 Co-option

Proteins tend to have additional, minor functions in addition to the primary function they evolved to perform, especially proteins with high levels of interactions such as enzymes and receptors (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). In the context of gene duplication, co-option allows for a seemingly new function of one gene copy, which was always present, to be appropriated to a primary role after the duplication event, while the other gene remains identical to the ancestral copy.

The most obvious example of co-option is the feather, which originally functioned in temperature homeostasis, then was later co-opted for flight (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). This is also true of various kinds of receptors that switch their substrate specificity or binding affinity, as seen in the diversity of the steroid hormone receptor family (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). Finally, co-option is also observed in cellular signaling systems (Chute et al., 2019). In *C. elegans*, for example, machinery from inter-cellular signaling was co-opted for inter-organismal signaling, allowing a nicotinic acetylcholine receptor to sense choline in order to function in inter-organismal communication pathways (Chute et al., 2019).

# 2.1.9 Neofunctionalization

The final and least likely outcome for a duplicated gene is the accumulation of mutations that lead to a new function (Ohno, 1970). Since the majority of mutations are deleterious or neutral, neofunctionalization is relatively uncommon (Ohno, 1970). Rarely, a duplicated gene can undergo mutations that bestow a novel and advantageous function and become fixed in a population (Lynch, 2002). This usually happens when the new function contributes an immediate adaptive value to the organism in which it occurs, or when the organism is only subject to neutral selection and is able accommodate an extra gene copy (Rodrigo & Fares, 2018). In comparison to the retention rate of subfunctionalized genes, genes encoding new functions are more likely to be fixed in the population as the population size increases (Lynch et al., 2001).

# 2.1.10 Fixation

Fixation occurs when the majority of organisms in the population carry the gene duplicate (Lynch et al., 2001). The fixation of a gene duplication event in a population often depends on the selective conditions provided by the environment. Many duplicated genes become fixed in the population by random genetic drift under neutral selection (Lynch and Conery, 2003). Positive selection tends to favor the fixation of duplicated genes where an increase in gene dosage is advantageous, or where a new function confers an adaptation that increases fitness (Rodrigo & Fares, 2018).

### 2.1.11 What Kinds of Genes Tend to Undergo Duplication Events?

While gene duplication events are ubiquitous, certain genes whose products have a high degree of molecular interactions, are evolving slowly, and are not considered a key component of the organism's suite of housekeeping genes seem to be favored for gene duplication events (Taylor & Raes, 2004, Conant & Wolfe, 2008). There are several postulated reasons for this. First, it is thought the rate of evolution affects the likelihood of a gene duplication event (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). Genes that are evolving slowly have been found to undergo gene duplications more frequently (Taylor & Raes, 2004, Conant & Wolfe, 2008). This does not seem to apply to essential housekeeping genes, however, which tend to be under high selection pressure and are quickly purged should a deleterious mutation arise (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). *C. elegans* genes have been found to have below average rates of evolution, which would relate to the numerous and rapid rates of gene duplication observed in this species, and in nematodes at large (Blaxter et al., 1998, Davis & Petrov, 2004, Conant & Wolfe, 2008). Genes whose products engage in a high degree of biochemical interactions with other molecules, such as enzymes, transcription factors, and ion channels, can more easily adapt novel functions, (Conant & Wolfe, 2008). This is reflected in the observed rates of gene duplication and functional classes of genes, which did not

seem to have a pattern, implying that the interactions between gene products was a more important feature (Conant & Wolfe, 2008).

#### 2.1.12 Gene Duplication in pLGIC

Gene duplication events are fairly common in pLGIC, giving rise to the wide diversity of receptors we observe today (Han et al. 2019). This is, in part, due to the features of pLGIC that make them conducive to gene duplication events, particularly their slower rates of evolution and their complex networks of protein-protein interactions, which includes other subunits (Jaiteh et al., 2016, Pless & Sivilotti, 2018).

The majority of our understanding of the consequences and outcomes of gene duplication are drawn from examples where proteins interact individually with their biochemical environment, which is relatively unchanging. However, subunits that assemble into a pLGIC receptor can be understood as having the function of interacting with other subunits in their environment, resulting in different patterns of receptor oligomerization. A receptor can be homomeric if a single gene produces all five, identical subunits that associate to form a homomeric channel, or heteromeric if receptor subunits come from different genes that share a common ancestor (Bamber et al., 2003, Jaiteh et al., 2016). For example, *acr-16* encodes a homomeric receptor in *C. elegans*, whereas *acc-1* encodes an obligate heteromer in *H. contortus* (Touroutine et al., 2005, Callanan et al., 2018).

Changes in oligomerization can occur immediately following a gene duplication event. For example, in *C. elegans*, the subunits DEG-3 and DES-2 form a heteromer (Yassin et al., 2001). The MPTL-1 receptor is descended from DES-2, but forms a homomer (Rufener et al., 2013). Different organizations of subunits in the receptor affect the receptor's biochemical behavior. For example, UNC-49B and UNC-49C are GABA receptor subunits in *C. elegans* (Bamber et al., 2003). UNC-49B forms a homomeric GABA receptor, but can also co-assemble with UNC-49C to form a heteromeric receptor (Bamber et al., 2003). UNC-49B homomers were shown to be more sensitive to picrotoxin than UNC-49B/C heteromers (Bamber et al., 2003). The switch between self-interaction and non-self interaction is an important distinction with implications for receptor pharmacology, and could reflect an ability of proteins to control self-interactions separately from interactions with different proteins.

There are different ways evolutionary pressure can act on duplicate pLGIC subunit genes to produce a diversity of ion channel receptors. One source of diversity is the stoichiometric arrangement

of subunits in the receptors they form, with the downstream effect of altering substrate specificity (Jaiteh et al., 2016). Take, for example, *Ode-unc-38*, *Ode-unc-29*, *Ode-unc-63* and *Ode-acr-8*, which are found in the nematode parasite *Oesophagostomum dentatum* and are homologues of the *C. elegans* levamisole muscle receptor genes (Buxton et al. 2014). The heteromeric channel *Ode(29-63-38)*, is most sensitive to acetylcholine, but upon incorporating ACR-8 into this receptor, the *Ode(29-63-38-8)* heteromer responds primarily to levamisole instead (Buxton et al. 2014). These subunits act differently in *C. elegans*, where they bind a fifth subunit, Cel-LEV-1 and result in a heteromeric receptor with no affinity for nicotine (Buxton et al. 2014). Instead, *C. elegans* seems to have evolved a separate homopentamer of ACR-16 subunits to form a nicotine-sensitive muscle receptor (Buxton et al. 2014). Clearly, the evolution of subunits affects receptors in terms of both their formation and their ligand-binding behaviors.

Strong purifying selection is pervasive for pLGICs, leading to their conserved sequence (Beech et al 2013, Duguet et al. 2016). Loss of orthologous pLGIC genes following gene duplication events is common in nematode species (Beech & Neveu, 2015). For example, the *glc-5* and *glc-6* genes, which are involved in glutamate signaling and sensitivity to ivermectin in *H. contortus*, share a common ancestor that predates the divergence between *H. contortus* and *C. elegans*, but these genes have been lost in the *C. elegans* lineage (Beech & Neveu, 2015). There is some speculation that divergence and purifying selection in pLGIC duplicates in nematodes could be driven, in part, by different evolutionary pressures acting on parasitic and free-living lifestyles (Boulin at al., 2011, Li et al., 2015). For example, *acr-13* and *acr-8* are thought to have arisen from a gene duplication event occurring after the divergence between strongyloidea and rhabditoidea (Boulin at al., 2011). ACR-13 is essential for the formation of the L-AChR in *C. elegans*, but is markedly absent from many related parasites, including *H. contortus*, *B. malayi* and *A. suum* (Boulin at al., 2011). These parasites instead form L-AChRs expressing different ratios of the *unc-29* and *unc-38* subunits (Boulin at al., 2011).

Positive selection in pLGIC is rare, but has been observed in selection for  $\alpha 9$  and  $\alpha 10$  cholinergic nicotinic receptor subunits, which assemble to form the receptor that mediates sensitive hearing in mammals (Lipovsek et al., 2012). However, there is growing evidence that functional divergence of acetylcholine receptors followed by positive selection, which is common in clade V parasitic nematodes, may be mediated by alteration of receptor assembly (Duguet et al., 2016). For example, multiple independent gene duplications were identified in the *unc-29* acetylcholine receptor subunit, and codon substitution rate analysis identified positive, directional selection acting on amino acid positions associated with subunit assembly (Duguet et al., 2016).

There is also evidence to suggest differences in the timing and location of expression of subunits could be driving the evolution of pLGIC subunits (Li et al., 2015). AChRs in C. elegans generally seem to be enriched during the embryonic stage and are suspected to play a role in larval development (Von Stetina et al., 2007, Li et al., 2015). In parasitic nematodes, AChRs seem to be developmentally regulated (Li et al., 2015). These observations are further validated by the observation that levamisole has a strong paralytic effect on numerous filarial nematode species at the microfilariae stage compared to the adult stage (Li et al., 2015). An example of spatial separation can be observed in the acr-26 receptor, which was found to be expressed in A. suum in muscle cells in the head but not the body wall (Bennett et al., 2012, Li et al., 2015). Bm1 48815, an orthologue acr-26 found in B. malayi, was found in body muscles of only male worms (Li et al., 2015). This may explain the observed trend of higher motility rates among male *B. malayi* worms compared to females (Li et al., 2015). Another example can be found in unc-63 and acr-16 subunits, which both contribute to levamisole-insensitive receptors for neuromuscular transmission in C. elegans (Touroutine et al., 2005). However, ACR-16 is enriched in body wall muscle cells and is a requirement for levamisole-insensitive nicotinic responses (Touroutine et al., 2005). This suggests ACR-16 subunits evolved specifically for locomotion and are differentially expressed in body wall muscle. The observed spatial and temporal separation of subunit expression could indicate that some receptors have evolved specific purposes for specific life stages.

### 2.2 nAChR Subunits

### 2.2.1 DEG-3 Subfamily

The multitude of studies on *C. elegans* have identified at least 29 nAChR subunit genes that can be divided into five groups based on sequence homology: DEG-3, ACR-16, ACR-8, UNC-38 and UNC-29 (Brown et al., 2006, Jones et al., 2007, Li et al., 2015). The subunits used in this study are all members of the DEG-3 subfamily. Genes in the DEG-3 subfamily appear to be nematode specific and are not found in mammals, making them ideal targets for anthelmintic compounds (Brown et al., 2006, Rufener et al., 2009, 2010). They are also characterized by their ability to respond to amino-acetonitrile derivatives (AADs), a new class of anthelmintic compounds found to be effective against drug-resistant nematodes, making this clade important to ongoing studies of anthelmintic resistance (Brown et al., 2006, Rufener et al., 2009, Rufener et al., 2010). *C. elegans* and *H. contortus* share many DEG-3 homologues in common, implying the mode of activation of nAChR signaling pathways may be conserved between these two species (Kaminsky et al., 2008, Rufener et al., 2009).

#### 2.2.2 Subunit Structure

Each nAChR subunit is made up of an extracellular hydrophilic amino-terminal N-terminal domain of around 200 amino acids that is required for receptor assembly and ligand binding, four hydrophobic α-helical transmembrane (TM) domains of around 20 amino acids that form the ion-conducting pore, an intracellular loop between TM3 and TM4 in the cytoplasmic domain involved in modulating channel activity and ion conductance, and a small extracellular carboxyl-terminal (Corringer et al., 2000, Brown et al., 2006, Choudhary et al., 2020). TM1-TM3 are separated by short loops, and TM3 is connected by a large, variable intracellular domain to TM4 (Corringer et al., 2000). The TM2 of each subunit lines the pore of the channel, comprising a barrel through which ions are conducted (Corringer et al., 2000). The intracellular loop is typically between 100 and 270 amino acids, and plays an important role in receptor modulation, sorting, and trafficking (Corringer et al., 2000).

The majority of subunits are classified as either  $\alpha$  or non- $\alpha$  (Corringer et al., 2000, Pless & Sivilotti, 2018, Choudhary et al. 2020). The  $\alpha$ -subunits have two adjacent cysteines in the ligand binding C-loop of the extracellular N-terminal and are considered the site of action for binding receptor agonists and antagonists (Corringer et al., 2000). The non- $\alpha$ -subunits  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\varepsilon$  are missing these cysteine residues (Corringer et al., 2000, Choudhary et al. 2020). Non- $\alpha$ -subunits form the complementary face of the binding site, and are not known to bind ligands on their own (Corringer et al., 2000, Changeux, 2012). All the cation-selective nAChRs studied to date have been found to contain at least two  $\alpha$  subunits (Choudhary et al. 2020).

A receptor can be homomeric if a single gene produces all five, identical subunits. If the receptor subunits come from different, homologous genes that share a common ancestor, a heteromeric receptor is formed. In homomeric receptors, all subunits are  $\alpha$ -subunits and occupy both the principal and complementary faces of the ligand binding site, such as in the  $\alpha 9\alpha 10$  nAChR receptor (Boffi et al. 2017). In heteromeric receptors, nonequivalent subunits create a diversity of binding sites composed of different subunit interfaces with different properties (Corringer et al., 2000).

We know from solved structures of heteromeric receptors that different subunits have evolved specifically defined positions within the receptor. For example, the main *C. elegans* L-AChR is composed of five different subunits encoded by the *unc-38*, *unc-63*, *lev-8*, *unc-29* and *lev-1*, all of which inhabit a specific position in the receptor (Charvet et al., 2018). By contrast, the main *C. elegans* N-AChR is homomeric, composed of five identical subunits encoded by the *acr-16* gene (Charvet et al., 2018). Some subunits are also known to exclusively form heteromers. For example, Hco-ACC-1 subunit does not form a functional homomeric channel, but requires Hco-ACC-2 to form a heteromer that is highly sensitive to acetylcholine and carbachol (Callanan et al., 2018). While a diversity of

oligomeric states contributes to the wide diversity of pLGIC, what remains unknown are the mechanisms that prevent certain subunits from assuming a place in the receptor.

# 2.2.3 nAChR Binding Sites

The nAChR binding site is formed by the interface between the extracellular domains of adjacent subunits, with a total of six noncontiguous regions labeled loops A–F (Boffi et al., 2017). The  $\alpha$ -subunit contributes three, highly conserved loops (A–C) at the principal face, and the non- $\alpha$ -subunit contributes three loops (D–F) that have more sequence variability between subunits (Boffi et al., 2017). The  $\alpha$ -subunit side of each binding site features four core aromatic residues that line the binding pocket, a critical component in the binding domain that interacts with the ligand and makes the  $\alpha$ -subunit a requirement in producing an active binding site (Hansen & Taylor, 2007). Comparatively, interfaces between non- $\alpha$ -subunits are thought to be inactive or form an important site to accommodate modulatory ligands for allosteric modulation of the receptor (Hansen & Taylor, 2007, Taly et al., 2014). This means only sites containing the  $\alpha$ -subunit principal face will actively bind agonist. The nAChR in *T. marmorata*, for example, only have two distinct binding sites composed of the  $\alpha$ - $\delta$  and  $\alpha$ - $\gamma$  subunit interfaces (Boffi et al., 2017).

Ligand binding causes a conformational change in the receptor that propagates into the transmembrane domain, affecting steric changes in TM2 helices that cause the ion pore to open (Cheng et al. 2006). The most drastic change occurs in the C-loop of the  $\alpha$ -subunit in the principal face of the binding site, which moves around 4 Å to close over the ligand-binding pocket and act as lid that effectively closes the ligand-binding pocket (Cheng et al. 2006, Hansen & Taylor, 2007). Steric changes in the complementary face also contribute to opening the ion pore, making the identity of the subunit contributing the complementary face important to the functioning and pharmacology of the ion channel (Cheng et al. 2006).

A considerable amount of receptor diversity comes from the arrangement and composition of its subunits (Corringer et al., 2000, Hansen &Taylor, 2007). For example, in *A. suum*, different combinations of UNC-29 and UNC-38 create heteromers with different pharmacological profiles depending on the stochiometry of their subunits (Williamson et al., 2009, Holden-Dye et al., 2013). When there are more UNC-29 than UNC-38, the receptor is considered L-type with levamisole and pyrantel as full agonists (Williamson et al., 2009, Holden-Dye et al., 2013). The converse ratio results in a receptor considered N-type with nicotine and oxantel as full agonists (Williamson et al., 2009, Holden-Dye et al., 2013). The variation between subunit composition and placement in the receptor affects its overall substrate affinity and binding kinetics, and therefore also its ability to propagate

neurotransmission signals (Corringer et al., 2000). This is the premise which allows this study to use differences between the pharmacological profiles of each receptor to detect the formation of a heteromer.

# **2.3 Experimental Model**

We know from solved structures of heteromeric receptors that the different subunits have evolved specifically defined positions within the receptor (Unwin, 1995, Morales-Perez et al., 2016, Phulera et al., 2018). To explain the diversity we observe in ion channel receptors and the stochiometry of their subunits, there must be some mechanism that regulates the ability of subunits to interact with other subunits. Three different outcomes can result from gene duplication. First, gene duplication of a homomeric ancestral receptor may lead to the formation of two different homomeric receptors. This requires some mechanism to prevent association between the two new subunits. Second, gene duplication of a homomeric ancestor may give rise to a heteromeric receptor, and this would require some mechanism to specify subunit position while retaining their ability to interact. Third, gene duplication could lead to a change in the composition of a heteromeric receptor. In this case, the specific interactions that determine subunit position would have to change. The most simple experimental system would involve analysis of homomeric receptors and so this project will focus on the first scenario.

Nematodes are good model organisms for the study of gene duplication events, as the phylum Nematoda is one of the largest most diverse animal phyla due to a high rate of gene duplications (Mitreva et al., 2005, Blaxter, 2011, International Helminth Genomes Consortium, 2019). Nematodes have undergone fast expansion and functional divergence, giving an abundance of examples of recent gene duplication events (Mitreva et al., 2005, Duguet et al., 2016). Furthermore, a large amount of data sequenced, annotated, and verified Clade V Nematode genes are available through repositories such as NCBI thanks to the Helminth Genome Initiative (Howe et al., 2016, International Helminth Genomes Consortium, 2019).

*C. elegans* is a well-studied Clade V Nematode and laboratory model organism that has one of the largest nAChR gene families known for any organism (Brown et al., 2006, Howe et al., 2016). Following complete sequencing of its genome, most of its genes have been annotated and assigned functions that have been verified in the lab (Brown et al., 2006). Furthermore, many aspects of synaptic transmission and neural mapping in *C. elegans* have been characterized, allowing for this organism to be used as a model in understanding components of anthelmintic drug targets (Blaxter, 2011, Dwyer et

al., 2014). Finally, *C. elegans* also possesses one of the largest repertoires of AChR gene families of any organism that can be easily expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes (Brown et al., 2006, Blaxter, 2011, Duguet et al., 2016, Howe et al., 2016).

An excellent model to investigate what happens after a recent gene duplication event can be found in members of the DEG-3 subfamily that are targeted by monepantel (AAD-2225) (Baur et al., 2015). *Haemonchus contortus*, a species of parasitic nematodes closely related to *C. elegans*, possess *mptl-1*, a gene that encodes a homomeric betaine receptor regulating movement and whose loss results in monepantel resistance (Rufener et al., 2013, Peden et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). Within the *Caenorhabditis* clade, duplication of *mptl-1* has led to the paralogs, *acr-20* and *acr-23* (Peden et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). The major advantages of this model system are that MPTL-1, ACR-20 and ACR-23 receptors have been well characterized and have all been shown to function as homomeric betaine receptors (Rufener et al., 2013, Peden et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015).

ACR-23 was discovered during random drug screening trials of *C. elegans* to identify AAD targets (Rufener et al., 2013). This screen led to the identification of 44 monepantel resistance mutant alleles, of which 27 alleles fell into one complementation class that caused disruptions in the *acr-23* gene (Rufener et al., 2013). These receptors have been localized in the body wall muscle and in mechanosensory neurons, and are believed to be important to worm locomotion (Rufener et al., 2013, Peden et al., 2013). ACR-20 is paralogous to ACR-23, but is more closely related in sequence to their shared ancestor, *mptl-1* (Baur et al., 2015). In *C. elegans*, MPTL resistance maps to mutations in *acr-23*, while mutations in *acr-20* do not lead to significant MPTL resistance (Baur et al., 2015). Interestingly, both MPTL-1 and ACR-20 channels are constitutively opened by monepantel (Baur et al., 2015). This could be explained by a decreased affinity of ACR-20 for monepantel compared to ACR-23, or the receptor may play a decreased physiological role that does not affect viability of the nematodes (Baur et al., 2015). Importantly for the work presented here, the fact that MPTL resistance is not affected equally by mutations of *acr-20* and *acr-23* means that the drug target receptor is not an obligate heteromer.

These channels respond primarily to betaine, a ubiquitous noncanonical amino acid which serves as an organic osmolyte to protect cells against osmotic stress (Baur et al., 2015). The mode of action of betaine toxicity is largely unknown, but is known to result in nematode death and is important in agricultural settings to help control parasite infection (Peden et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). A main focus of this thesis is to determine whether ACR-20 and ACR-23 can form a heteromeric receptor. It is important to note that the half maximal concentration, or  $EC_{50}$  value, for betaine on ACR-23 is 56 times

higher, at 1.4 mM (Penen et al., 2013), than ACR-20, at 25  $\mu$ M (Baur et al., 2015). Since EC<sub>50</sub> can be diagnostic for some receptors, this difference increases the possibility of detecting any distinct EC<sub>50</sub> that might indicate formation of a heteromer.

# 2.4 Detecting Differences in Evolutionary Selection Pressure

Any differences in selection pressure due to a change in functional requirements may be revealed by a change in the non-synonymous/synonymous codon substitution rate. The branch length for *acr-23* appears greater than *acr-*20 in a phylogenetic tree (Baur et al., 2015) suggesting that these genes may have experienced differential selection pressure in their history. Phylogenetic analysis by maximum likelihood (PAML) compares maximum likelihood models of sequence evolution in a way that allows testing of specific model components. These include site specific substitution rates as well as evidence for varying substitution rates among specific branches of a phylogenetic tree (Yang, 2007). This method seems particularly appropriate to estimate any change in selection pressure and therefore possible changes in function for these genes.

The program CODEML considers codon triplets as the unit of evolution and compares the nonsynonymous/synonymous substitution rate ratio between each codon site. This ratio, or  $\omega$ , measures the direction and magnitude of selection acting on different codon sites.  $\omega < 1$  indicates negative or purifying selection, whereas  $\omega > 1$  indicates positive selection changing the function of the protein, and  $\omega = 1$  indicates neutral evolution (Yang, 2007). The smaller the value of  $\omega$ , the stronger the purifying selection, and the larger, the stronger the positive selection.

# **3-** Methods

# 3.1 Cloning

Gene sequences for *C. elegans acr-20* (R06A4.10) and *acr-23* (F59B1.9) were obtained from GenBank to design forward and reverse primers for each gene using the Primer3 plugin (Rozen and Skaletsky, 2000) of Geneious 10.2.6 (http://www.geneious.com) on Linux Ubuntu 18.04.5 LTS. The forward primer contained a terminal *Not*-I site and the reverse a terminal *Apa*-I site, shown in bold below. The *acr-20* and *acr-23* genes were amplified from *C. elegans* Bristol N2 cDNA (gift from J. D.

Noonan) with Q5® High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (New England Biolabs) or DreamTaq (Thermofisher) respectively as described in their instructions.

Primers for *acr-20* were:

5'-GCGGCCGCGATATAGGAATTGATGTCGAGTGG-3'

5'-GGGCCCCCGCTCCGTAGACTATACTCTTAC-3'

Primers for *acr-23* were:

5'-GCGGCCGCATGCACAGGATCTACACATTTTTGA-3'

5'-GGGCCCTCACATCAGAGCAGATCAATCGA-3'

All PCR amplicons were verified for amplification and size by electrophoresis through a 0.8% agarose/TBE gel and visualized with GreenGlo (Denville Inc.).

PCR amplicons were purified using the Zymoclean Gel DNA Recovery Kit (Zymo Research). Fragments were ligated into the pGEM-T vector and transformed into DH5- $\alpha$  competent *E. coli* cells using the heatshock method according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega Technical Manual, 2018). Purified plasmid DNA was prepared using the miniprep procedure (Bio Basic) and the cloned genes were confirmed by Sanger sequencing (Nanuq, Genome Quebec). A total of 88 clones of *acr-20* and 24 clones of *acr-23* were screened. Clones identical to the reference sequence were digested with both *Not*-I and *Apa*-I, and ligated into pTD2 (Duguet, 2017), a plasmid expression vector specialized for protein expression in *Xenopus* oocytes modified from pTB207 (Boulin et al., 2008). The pTD2 plasmid contains both the 5' and 3' UTR from *Xenopus*  $\beta$ -globin, which flank the cloning site, to increase stability of the cRNA *in vivo*.

Truncated subunits were made by designing a reverse primer with a terminal *Apa*-I site to bind immediately following the second transmembrane domain of both *acr-20* and *acr-23*:

5'-GGGCCCTCAAGATGACGTGGATGGCATTTTGTC-3'

This reverse primer also contains a stop codon terminating the protein immediately after the second transmembrane domain. Truncated subunits were cloned as described for the full-length genes.

# 3.2 cRNA Synthesis

pTD2 clones were linearized using *Nhe*-I for 12 hours and used as template for *in vitro* transcription using the mMESSAGE mMACHINE T7 Transcription Kit (Ambion), according to the

manufacturer's instructions. *In vitro* transcription reactions ran for 6 - 12 hours, then the synthesized cRNA was DNase treated and precipitated with lithium chloride and dissolved in RNAse-free distilled water. The concentration and purity of the cRNA was established using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific) and the amplification and quality was verified by electrophoresis on a denaturing 0.8% agarose MOPS gel. Small aliquots of RNA were made from concentrated RNA stocks, diluted with nuclease-free water to 225 ng/µL for single injections, 500 ng/µL for double injections, and a range from 225 ng/µl to 2000 ng/µL for the different concentrations of co-injected truncated subunits.

### 3.3 Animals

All work involving *Xenopus leavis* frogs was carried out according to the approved Animal Use Protocols (AUP #2015-7758).

Oocytes were surgically removed from adult female *Xenopus* frogs under anesthesia by submerging in 0.15% tricaine methanesulfonate solution (MS-222) for 10 - 15 minutes, pH corrected to 7 using NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. For terminal surgeries, 0.45% MS-222 was used for 2 hours. A small incision was made near the posterior end of the abdomen, and 1 - 2 mL of eggs were extracted using tweezers and stored in sterile calcium-free OR2 solution (80 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM HEPES, pH to 7.3 with NaOH). Eggs were mechanically separated into groups of 8-10 and defolliculated using Collagenase Type II (Thermofischer) at a concentration of 0.2% (w/v) in calcium-free OR-2 and left to shake gently for 1 - 2 hours. Oocytes were then washed and stored at 18 °C in ND-96-penstrep (95 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.8 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, and 5 mM Na-HEPES, supplemented with 1M penicillin-streptomycin solution and 0.275 g/L pyruvate as an energy source) for at least 30 minutes before cRNA injections. All solutions were sterilized via vacuum filtration with a 0.2 µm PES filter.

# **3.4 Oocyte Injections**

A total volume of 54 nL cRNA mixture was injected into each oocyte and remained constant. The number of ng of cRNA was controlled by preparing different dilutions of concentrated cRNA stock in RNAase-nuclease-free water. Stage V or VI oocytes were placed in a petri dish immersed in ND96 and injected with the Nanoject II system by Drummond Scientific Company. Needles were pulled from borosilicate glass capillaries (World Precision Instruments) and backfilled with light mineral oil to create a plunger system to use with the cRNA mixtures. Two subunits were co-expressed by injecting 13 ng cRNA for each subunit, totaling 26 ng. Truncated subunit RNA was co-injected in addition to 13ng of whole subunit RNA at a 1:1 and 1:5 ratio of whole-subunit to truncated-subunit for both ACR-20 and ACR-23 homomers, and for ACR-20 ACR-23 co-injections, creating a total of eight different admixtures. This means a total of 26 ng RNA was injected for the 1:1 ratio, and 78 ng for the 1:5 ratio. Maximum betaine responses were then measured for 1.5 mM betaine on *acr-20* and 10 mM betaine for *acr-23*. After injection, oocytes were left to incubate at 18 °C for roughly 48 hours in ND-96-penstrep, and medium was changed every 24 hours.

# 3.5 Electrophysiology

Two-electrode voltage clamp electrophysiology was conducted using the Axoclamp 900A computer-controlled microelectrode amplifier and Axon Digidata 1550B from Axon Instruments. Electrodes were pulled from B150F-4 borosilicate glass capillaries (World Precision Instruments). The tip of each electrode was clipped with a fine pair of tweezers and filled with 3 M KCl before being positioned onto Ag|AgCl wires connected to headstages connected to the amplifier. The electrodes were checked for a resistance between 0.5 and 5 M $\Omega$ .

A RC3Z oocyte housing chamber (Harvard Apparatus) was connected to a gravity-fed perfusion system to deliver both the recording buffer and the ligand solutions. Recording buffer was Ringer's solution (100 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, HEPES 5 mM, pH to 7.3 with NaOH). The perfusion chamber was connected to a reference electrode through a 3 M KCl 1% agar bridge. Individual oocytes were placed into the inlet of a RC3Z chamber (Harvard Apparatus) filled with Ringer's solution and pierced by both electrodes. Voltage was clamped at -60 mV, and only oocytes that held a clamping current less than 1000 nA were used.

Ligand solutions were made using Ringer's solution as the solvent. A stock of 100 mM betaine in Ringer's solution was prepared and used to make concentrations of 15 mM, 10 mM, 1.5 mM, 1 mM, 100  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M 1  $\mu$ M. Additional dilutions of betaine were made at 67.5  $\mu$ M, 45  $\mu$ M, and 22.5  $\mu$ M for *acr-20*, and 675  $\mu$ M, 450  $\mu$ M, and 225  $\mu$ M for *acr-23*. A stock of 10 mM acetylcholine and 10 mM nicotine were prepared and used to make a concentration of 100  $\mu$ M for each ligand solution. Drug perfusion with different concentrations of drugs was performed for the duration of time it took for each oocyte response to plateau. In between recording responses to different drug doses, drugs were washed out of the perfusion chamber with the recording buffer, allowing the oocyte to return to their basal current before the next treatment was administered. At least three oocytes from five different batches were examined for each condition.

# **3.6 Bioinformatics**

A multiple sequence alignment was performed using sequences retrieved from the WBPS13 version of the WormBase ParaSite database (<u>http://parasite.wormbase.org/</u>). The sequences collected were *mptl-1* from all Clade III, IV, and V nematodes where this gene is found, and *acr-20* and *acr-23* from *C. elegans*. Sequences were then imported into Geneious v 10.2.6 for Ubuntu (<u>https://www.geneious.com</u>). Sequences from the signal peptide, the intracellular loop between TM3 and TM4 and the C-terminal region beyond TM4 were removed from the alignment. Any positions with ambiguity or gaps were also removed using the clean data option. A multiple sequence alignment based on codons was obtained using the MAFFT plugin (Katoh & Standley, 2013).

Phylogenetic trees were produced using the PhyML plugin for Geneious (Guindon et al., 2010). Codon substitution models were examined using CODEML from the PAML v4.6 software package (Yang, 2007) implemented on the Beluga Compute Canada cluster though Compute Canada (www.computecanada.ca). The likelihood of three nested models, with either one (M0), two (M3k2) or three (M3k3) classes of codon substitution rates were maximized (M0: run model = 0, NSSites = 0, ncatG = 0; M3k2: model = 0, NSSites = 3, ncatG = 2; M3k3: model = 0, NSSites = 3, ncatG = 3) were used to evaluate if each additional rate class explained the data significantly better. Branch models and clade models (MD) allowing one of the three rate classes to differ on specified branches of the phylogeny were optimized to evaluate evidence of different selection pressures acting on the three genes (MD: run model = 3, NSsites = 3, ncatG = 3). Since the likelihood distribution of model MD often has local maxima, the most likely model was determined starting with twelve initial substitution rates ranging from 0.001 to 10 (Yang, 2007). For these nested models, probability was determined from the likelihood ratio test using twice the difference in log likelihood values, which follows the  $\chi^2$ distribution (Yang, 2007).

The CODEML program tests branch models with different  $\omega$  ratio parameters at different branches in the phylogenic tree to detect where natural selection is creating different rates of evolutionary change. This program first takes a set of user trees as input and then calculates their log likelihood values under a variety of branch models. The first model, M0, uses a constant value for  $\omega$  at all points in the tree. The second, a two-ratio model, assumes specific branches have different  $\omega$  values from the rest of the tree, specifically the branches leading up *acr-20* and *acr-23*. The third, a free-ratio model, where  $\omega$  is independent for each branch in the tree. In this study, the M0 model was used, as well as the M3K2 model, which assumes 2 substitution rate classes, and M3K3 model, which assumes 3 substitution rate classes. Model D uses a variable number of site classes, which is set by the user. In this study, Model D implements a 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> rate class. Where codon substitution rates differ, this is evidence of natural selection acting differently at different points in the phylogeny.

#### **3.7 Data Analysis**

Electrophysiology recordings were taken with the Clampex 9.2 software (Axon Instruments) and analyzed with Clampfit 9.2. All final recordings were filtered at 10 Hz before the amplitude of currents corresponding to drug responses were measured and recorded in Excel spreadsheets (Microscoft). GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software) was used to calculate concentration-response curves for betaine for each type of receptor by applying the Hill equation as described by Boulin et al. (2008). GraphPad Prism 8.0 was also used to perform one-way ANOVA.

# 4- Results and Discussion

The monepantel sensitive homomeric betaine receptors ACR-20 and ACR-23 in *C. elegans* are paralogous duplications of the ancestral homomeric MPTL-1 receptor (Peden et al., 2013, Rufener et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). Adaptation to new, independent functions as homomers would be disrupted if ACR-20 and ACR-23 could form a heteromeric receptor. It could therefore be expected that there would be increased selection pressure to prevent formation of a heteromeric receptor and evolution of some mechanism that causes *acr-20* and *acr-23* to exclusively form homomers. The work presented here aimed to verify if such a mechanism exists.

*In silico* work was done to provide evidence that a suitable model was chosen to investigate the hypothesis of this study. Functional change is associated with changes in selection pressure that may leave evidence in the protein sequence (Yang, 2007, Duguet et al., 2016). The sequences of *mptl-1*, *acr-20* and *acr-23* from a variety of species were examined to determine if codon substitution rates revealed evidence of functional change specific to *acr-20* and *acr-23*.

Homomeric ACR-20 and ACR-23 receptors were reconstituted in Xenopus oocytes to verify that their characteristics corresponded to those published previously (Peden et al., 2013, Rufener et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). The betaine dose-response curve was examined for evidence of a distinct  $EC_{50}$  that might indicate that a heteromeric receptor was formed when both subunits were co-expressed.

A more sensitive method for detecting subunit interaction through concentration dependent poisoning of receptor expression using non-functional, truncated versions of ACR-20 and ACR-23 was developed. Initial characterization experiments revealed a high degree of variability in oocyte response. An internal control based on an unrelated homomeric receptor, *Dme-acr-16*, was developed to minimize this variability. In addition, it was possible to document that expression of ACR-20 led to increased oocyte membrane permeability, possibly due to spontaneous opening of the ACR-20 receptor.

Ultimately, it was possible to show that truncated ACR-20 poisoned the ACR-20 receptor in a concentration dependent manner that was not observed with truncated ACR-23, and vice versa. The lack of evidence that the N-terminal domains of ACR-20 and ACR-23 interact suggests that these paralogous genes have evolved an exclusion mechanism.

# 4.1 Substitution Rate Analysis

The two genes *acr-20* and *acr-23* represent a duplication within the *Caenorhabditis* group of the *mptl-1* gene found in other nematodes. Comparison of the codon substitution rates between *acr-20*, *acr-23*, and *mptl-1* provides a way to compare how selection pressure might be acting differently on each of the genes. Evidence for different evolutionary rates may indicate a change in function of the protein.

The maximum likelihood models produced by PAML analysis are summarized in Table 1, based on the phylogeny shown in Figure 1. The nested model tests based on these data are shown in Table 2. Models with three different codon substitution rate classes explained the data significantly better than those with either one or two different classes. Models that included an additional rate class only for the branches immediately following the duplication event (branch A, B and both) or for all branches after the duplication (clade A, B and both) did not make significant improvements (Table 2).

Model	Rate Classes	lnL	np		
M0	One codon rate class on all branches	-34309	107		
M3K2	Two codon rate classes on all branches	-33278	109		
M3K3	Three codon rate classes on all branches	-33061	111		
MD 20-branch	Three codon rates plus Branch A	-33059	112		
MD 23-branch	Three codon rates plus Branch B	-33059	112		
MD 20&23-branch	Three codon rates plus Branches A and B	-33059	113		
MD 20-clade	Three codon rates plus Clade 20	-33053	112		
MD 23-clade	Three codon rates plus Clade 23	-33052	112		
MD 20 & 23-clade	Three codon rates plus Clades 20 and 23	-33054	113		
Table 1 DAML analysis results. Each model is listed in the first column (M0, run model $= 0$					

**Table 1**. PAML analysis results. Each model is listed in the first column (M0: run model = 0, NSSites = 0, ncatG = 0; M3k2: model = 0, NSSites = 3, ncatG = 2; M3k3: model = 0, NSSites = 3, ncatG = 3; MD: run model = 3, NSsites = 3, ncatG = 3). The relevant rate classes are given in the second column. The lnL column represents the log likelihood for each model, and the np column represents the number of parameters (np) for each model. M0 assumes one class of codon substitution rates, M3K2 assumes two classes, and M3K3 assumes three classes. MD models assume three classes of codon substitution rates and allow one of the three rate classes to differ on specified branches. Trees 01- 03 are branch models; trees 04 – 06 are clade models. 20-branch has a different rate class on the branch leading to *acr-20*, 23-branch has a different rate class for each of these two branches. Trees 04 – 06 were produced by the same logic, but each rate class extends to include all the branches for each gene's group of descendants together as a clade.

Six tree models were constructed with PAML. The model MD 20 & 23-clade was chosen as an example model because it exemplifies how both clade and branch models were constructed.


labeled as a clade in green, and *acr-23* and its descendants are labeled as a clade in red. Black branches represent the background rate class. A scale bar is shown for reference, indicating branch lengths which represent the number of nucleotide substitutions per codon.

When a DNA sequence change alters an amino acid, a non-synonymous change, then that change is exposed to selection pressure. If this has little effect on survival of the organisms, the site should evolve at the same rate as synonymous changes that do not affect the protein sequence at all. If the change leads to a faulty protein that doesn't work well, selection pressure will remove those changes, in which case we'd expect to observe a conserved sequence and the rate of non-synonymous change will be lower than the rate of synonymous change.

The rate classes depicted in Table 2 describe codon substitution rates ( $\omega$ ), and the proportion of amino acids in the protein (p) that are subject to that substitution rate.  $\omega < 1$  indicates purifying selection,  $\omega > 1$  indicates positive selection changing the function of the protein, and  $\omega = 1$  indicates neutral evolution (Yang, 2007). The first column represents the largest proportion of amino acids in the protein and their corresponding  $\omega$  value, and the last column represents the smallest proportion. A majority of the subunit experiences very strong purifying selection that agrees with the strong conservation of subunit structure (Lipovsek et al. 2012, Beech et al 2013, Duguet et al. 2016).

Model		Rate Classes		
M0	p	1.0		
(One Class)	Г			
	ω	0.02786		
M3k2	р	0.65041	0.34959	
(Two Classes)	1			
	ω	0.00904	0.06989	
M3k3	р	0.40811	0.39576	0.19613
(Three Classes)				
	ω	0.02587	0.00303	0.09844
MD 20-branch	р	0.40335	0.40291	0.19408
(branch model)				
	ω	0.00325	0.02627	0.09885
	ωA	0.00065	0.02627	0.09885
MD 23-branch	р	0.40786	0.39452	0.19762
(branch model)				
	ω	0.02551	0.00298	0.09865
	ω <sub>B</sub>	0.02551	0.00298	0.06231
MD 20 & 23-branch	р	0.40335	0.40275	0.1939
(branch model)				
	ω	0.00329	0.02628	0.09886
	ω <sub>A</sub>	0.00065	0.02628	0.09886
	ω <sub>B</sub>	0.00264	0.02628	0.09886
MD 20-clade	р	0.40851	0.39651	0.19498
(clade model)				
	ω	0.02701	0.00317	0.1066
	w20clade	0.02701	0.00317	0.05622
MD 23-clade	р	0.40689	0.39118	0.20193
(clade model)				
	ω	0.02613	0.00304	0.10435
	w23clade	0.02613	0.00304	0.05544
MD 20 & 23-clade	р	0.41675	0.39271	0.19054
(clade model)				
	ω	0.00377	0.02734	0.10066
	W20clade	0.00032	0.02734	0.10066
	W23clade	0.00264	0.02734	0.10066

**Table 2**. PAML tree model rate classes. The value p represents proportion of codons falling under the same class of codon substitution rate,  $\omega$  represents the ratio of non-synonymous to synonymous substitutions (dN/dS),  $\omega_A$  represents dN/dS specifically for the branch leading to *acr-20* (branch A), and  $\omega_B$  represents dN/dS specifically for the branch leading to *acr-23* (branch B). Clade models are represented by  $\omega_{20clade}$  and  $\omega_{23clade}$  where the same dN/dS is

present on the branch leading to *acr-20* and all its descendants, and to *acr-23* and all its descendants, respectively.

Since the nested models created by PAML assume a chi-square distribution, the chi-squared test can be used to determine the best model (Yang, 2007). Significant improvements between models were determined by calculating the difference in their log likelihood values, multiplying the resultant by two, and looking up this value in a chi-squared distribution table using the corresponding degrees of freedom, which were calculated as the difference in np from Table 1 for each model (Yang, 2007). This allows a comparison of p-values to determine which of the models best fits the data.

Chi-Squared Test								
Comparison	Outer	Nested	2x difference in lnL	df	p-value			
M3k2 - M0	-33278	- 34309	2062	2	< 0.001			
M3k3 - M3k2	-33061	- 33278	434	2	< 0.001			
MD 20-branch - M3k3	-33059	- 33061	4	1	< 0.05			
MD 23-branch - M3k3	-33059	- 33061	4	1	ns			
MD 20 & 23-branch – MD 20-branch	-33059	- 33059	0	1	ns			
MD 20 & 23-branch - MD 23-branch	-33059	- 33059	0	1	ns			
MD 20 & 23-branch - M3k3	-33059	- 33061	4	2	ns			
MD 20-clade - M3k3	-33053	-33061	16	1	< 0.001			
MD 23 clade - M3k3	-33052	-33061	18	1	< 0.001			
MD20 & 23-clade – MD 20-clade	-33054	-33053	-2	1	ns			
MD 20 & 23-clade – MD 23-clade	-33054	-33052	-4	1	ns			
MD 20 & 23-clade - M3k3	-33054	-33061	14	2	< 0.001			

**Table 3**. Chi-Squared Test on tree model comparisons. Each comparison between models was made by taking the twice the difference between the log likelihood values of the models being compared and taking the difference in degrees of freedom (df) between the nested model and the outer model. Degrees of freedom represent the number of parameters for each model, which includes the lengths of each branch on the phylogenetic tree, the transition to transversion ratio, nucleotide frequencies, codon frequencies, and different rate classes of codon change. P-values were calculated by looking up the resulting values on the  $\chi^2$  distribution table. A level of p < 0.005 was considered significant.

The first three comparisons between nested models M0, M3K2, and M3K3 showed that the two codon rate class model was significantly better than the one rate model, and three rate classes were better than two.

Comparisons between branch models showed that having a different rate on the branch leading to *acr-20* compared to the rest of the tree provided a significant improvement to the model. This was not true when only the branch leading to *acr-23* had a different rate. Comparing the 20-branch model to the 20 & 23-branch model showed no evidence that the branch leading to *acr-23* had a different rate when *acr-20* already had a different rate. The same held true when comparing the 23-branch model to the 20 & 23-branch model. Interestingly, having different rates for both *acr-20* and *acr-23* was not an improvement over the three-rate model (M3K3). The results for these branch models imply that only *acr-20* has a significantly different rate of codon substitution compared to the rest of the tree. This suggests a functional change occurred in *acr-20* after the gene duplication event that led to *acr-20* and *acr-23*.

Comparisons between clade models showed the same pattern but included both *acr-20* and *acr-23*, suggesting both the *acr-20* and *acr-23* clades have different rates of codon substitution from the rest of the tree, and to each other. This is consistent with a functional switch at the base of each clade, after which strongly purifying selection pressure resumed to maintain this new function.

An interesting result was found when comparing the model with different rates leading to both *acr-20* and *acr-23* clades to models with a different rate to only *acr-20* or only *acr-23*. A negative value was returned for these model comparisons, suggesting a model where functional change occurred for both *acr-20* and *acr-23* is worse. However, since a different rate for the *acr-20* and *acr-23* clades were separately an improvement over the three-rate model, we'd expect a model that includes different rates for each of these genes to also be an improvement. A possible explanation for this observation is the PAML algorithm found a local and not a global maximum for the 20 & 23-clade model. PAML utilizes different  $\omega$  values at the starting point of the search specifically to avoid this problem. The results of this analysis, then, could mean the likelihood surface for this model is more complex than this analysis was able to capture.

Overall, this bioinformatics analysis suggests there may have been a functional change associated with the duplication of *mptl-1* to form *acr-20* and *acr-23*. The change in function could be affecting each subunit's binding behavior, pointing towards evidence for the evolution of an exclusion mechanism so that neither subunit can bind to the other. Furthermore, rates of codon substitution are most likely different between *acr-20* and *acr-23*, which suggests evolutionary divergence between these gene duplication products.

# 4.2. Electrophysiology

*Cel-acr-20*, *Cel-acr-23*, and *mptl-1* have been characterized in the literature as homomeric betaine receptors (Peden et al., 2013, Rufener et al., 2013, Baur et al. 2015). Resistance to monepantel is caused by knockout mutations in *acr-23* (Peden et al., 2013, Rufener et al., 2013). There is no evidence so far that loss of *acr-20* leads to resistance (Baur et al. 2015). This observation suggests *acr-20* and *acr-23* do not form a heteromeric receptor *in vivo*. In the following electrophysiology experiments, these receptors were reconstituted to confirm homomeric assembly in *Xenopus* oocytes. The concentration-response curve of the homomeric receptors compared to the curve obtained when both are co-injected failed to confirm or reject formation of a heteromer. Co-expression with a non-functional, truncated version of each subunit demonstrated a physical interaction between each subunit and its truncated version, but not with the other subunit.

# 4.2.1 Receptor Expression and EC<sub>50</sub> Calculations

Concentration-response curves for each injection scheme are shown in Figure 2. Homomeric channels were successfully reconstituted and were fully responsive to betaine. The EC<sub>50</sub> value for betaine with *acr-20* was 44.21 +/- 22.79  $\mu$ M, with a Hill coefficient of 0.86, and for *acr-23* was 1.16 +/- 0.6 mM, with a Hill coefficient of 1.16. These EC<sub>50</sub> values are consistent with the published values of 25 +/- 7  $\mu$ M betaine for *acr-20* with a Hill coefficient of 1.3 (Baur et al. 2015) and 1.4 +/- 0.1 mM betaine for *acr-23* with a Hill coefficient of 1.2 (Peden et al., 2013). The concentration-response curves also revealed the concentration of betaine producing a maximum response. For *acr-20* this was 1.5 mM betaine, and for *acr-23* this was 10 mM betaine. This confirms the subunits cloned here correspond to those published previously.

The human alpha4/beta2 receptor is found in two different stoichiometries with a difference in  $EC_{50}$  values of about 100-fold (Zhou et al., 2003). When both receptors are present, the dose response curve shows evidence for two distinct  $EC_{50}$  values (Zhou et al., 2003). The response to betain for oocytes co-injected with both *acr-20* and *acr-23* did not show evidence for a biphasic curve, with an  $EC_{50}$  of 224.4 +/- 84.9  $\mu$ M, and Hill coefficient of 0.86. This value falls between the  $EC_{50}$  values for the two homomers. This could reflect that a single heteromeric receptor was produced, or that this method was not sufficiently sensitive to detect one.

A data set to represent a hypothetical mixture of homomers was created by combining the data for homomeric *acr-20* and *acr-23* and plotting these as a single dataset in Figure 2. This yields a curve with an EC<sub>50</sub> value of 253.4 +/- 6.2 mM, with a Hill coefficient of 0.54. These values are not significantly different from the response when *acr-20* and *acr-23* were co-injected into oocytes. Although this does not rule out the possibility that heteromeric receptors were formed, the data provides no evidence for this.



**Figure 2**. Concentration-response curves for betaine. EC50 curves for three different conditions: *Cel-acr-20* alone, *Cel-acr-23* alone, both combined and a fourth, artificial dataset combining the data from homomers. Error bars represent mean  $\pm$  95% confidence interval. 15 mM, 10 mM, 1.5 mM, 1 mM, 100  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, and 1  $\mu$ M of betaine were tested per oocyte. Three applications per concentration of betaine were tested per oocyte, and their average was calculated to represent that oocyte's response.

These  $EC_{50}$  calculations served to confirm proper assembly of homomeric channels. While evidence of a functional heteromer was inconclusive, this experiment was still useful in proving the experimental system was working properly.

#### **4.2.2** Poisoning Receptor Function with Truncated Subunits

The use of concentration-response curves to detect the presence of heteromers was not sufficiently sensitive to detect heteromer formation. Therefore, a more sensitive test was devised to utilize protein-protein interactions between subunits to look for evidence of heteromer formation. The truncated version of each subunit inactivates the receptor it assumes a place in as a dominant effect. Since subunits are synthesized and assembled into receptors in the ER, every receptor is equally likely to incorporate these truncated subunits. If heteromers are being formed by co-injecting full length and truncated subunit RNA of opposite genes, we would expect to see a reduction in the total number of receptors produced, and therefore a reduction of maximal current, that is directly proportional to the amount of truncated cRNA injected (Boulin et al., 2011).

Oocytes injected with the truncated subunits alone did not respond, confirming they could not produce a functional receptor, as shown in Figure 3. Truncated subunit RNA was co-injected into *Xenopus* oocytes at ratios of 1:1 and 1:5 of full length to truncated subunits. Maximum betaine responses were then measured for 1.5 mM betaine on *acr-20* and 10 mM betaine for *acr-23*. A poisoning effect of receptor function was confirmed for truncated ACR-20 on full length ACR-20 and truncated ACR-23 on full length ACR-23. The maximal betaine response decreased with increasing truncated cRNA injected. This confirmed that the truncated subunits were able to poison receptors from full length subunits, presumably through physical interaction and co-assembly into a non-functional receptor.

The addition of truncated subunits to the full-length version of the same subunit showed a dosedependent decrease in the maximal current for both ACR-20 and ACR-23 homomers. This provides evidence for the proper expression and assembly of truncated subunits into the receptor, and in doing so, their ability to sequester functional, full length subunit proteins in non-functional receptor complexes.



**Figure 3**. Confirmation of poisoning effect. Reduction in maximal response to betaine is shown with increasing co-injection of truncated subunits for homomeric receptors. Error bars represent mean  $\pm$  95% confidence interval. Error bars have considerable overlap, but a dose dependent poisoning effect is observed in both *acr-20* and *acr-23* homomers with increasing concentration of truncated subunit in the co-injection admixture. Truncated subunits elicit no response when injected into oocytes alone, indicating that the truncated subunits are inactive on their own.

A high degree of variability was observed in maximal responses to betaine between oocytes, resulting in large error bars for each injection scheme in Figure 3. For example, maximum responses for *acr-20* range from 400 nA to 2,000 nA. The electrophysiology recordings that produced  $EC_{50}$  curves utilized a method of standardization, whereby every oocyte's response to betaine was expressed as a proportion to its maximal response. The truncated subunit experiments had no such internal control. Nonetheless, there appears to be a trend of overall reduction in betaine responses produced by homomers as the concentration of co-injected truncated subunit increases. Responses for both *acr-20* 

and *acr-23* homomers were greatly reduced for the 1:5 injection of full length to truncated subunit, indicating the truncated subunit was assembled into the receptor and reduced function as predicted.

The high degree of variability between oocyte maximum betaine responses meant that to determine statistical significance for the results would require sample sizes over 200 oocytes per experimental group (<u>https://www.calculator.net/sample-size-calculator</u>). Given that oocytes are injected one at a time, as well as the limitations imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic, it became important to find an alternative method of measuring functional poisoning by truncated subunits.

# 4.2.3 Oocyte Variability

Multiple factors introduced variability in electrophysiology responses. First and foremost was the integrity of the oocytes. The oocytes were separated by size, not their stage in the maturation cycle, which may have introduced differences in the cellular machinery available to each oocyte for synthesizing proteins. This could also explain differences observed in each oocyte's ability to heal after receiving an injection wound. Proper expression and assembly of receptors from the injected cRNA may have also varied. While the mechanics of RNA injections are kept constant, there is no practical way to control the volume of the injection that leaks back out of the oocyte, so the precise amount of RNA each oocyte receives can never truly be constant. Ideally, there should be some way to standardize between oocytes to correct for these factors. In order to develop a method of standardizing electrophysiology responses, the inclusion of ACR-16 as an internal control was evaluated.

#### 4.2.4 Determining an Internal Control for the Poisoning Experiment

Variability between oocytes was high in terms of maximum response to betain although each individual oocyte did produce consistent responses to multiple doses of the same concentration of betaine. This indicated that each oocyte expressed receptors that were stable and functional, so that between-oocyte variability might be mitigated by introducing an internal control. Expressing oocyte responses relative to such an internal standard would reduce inter-oocyte variability.

A suitable internal control would consist of a receptor that responds to a ligand neither ACR-20 nor ACR-23 respond to, and that would not oligomerize with the other subunits to form heteromers. Therefore, the *acr-16* subunit from *Dracunculus medinensis*, *Dme-acr-16*, was selected, with the additional feature that this ACR-16 subunit does not require accessory proteins to be expressed, as is

the case for *cel-acr-16* (Abongwa et al., 2016, J. Noonan, pers. comm.). This receptor has acetylcholine as its principal agonist, which does not illicit a response in ACR-20 or ACR-23 (Rufener et al., 2013, Peden et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). Dme-ACR-16 was shown not to respond to betaine, see below. This internal control allows the betaine response of each oocyte to be normalized to its acetylcholine response, and for these normalized responses to provide the basis of comparison between treatment groups.

#### 4.2.5. Confirming Internal Controls

Plasmid containing *Dme-acr-16* (gift from J. Noonan) was used to produce RNA as described in Methods. Oocytes were injected with 13 ng *Dme-acr-16* alone and tested for their response to 100  $\mu$ M ACh and 10 mM betaine. While *acr-20* and *acr-23* were shown in the literature to have no response to acetylcholine (Rufener et al., 2013, Peden et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015), *acr-20* and *acr-23* homomers were also tested with 100  $\mu$ M ACh to verify no response to acetylcholine. Doses were administered in random order. 100  $\mu$ M ACh was used for all receptors, 1.5 mM betaine was used for ACR-20, and 10 mM betaine was used for ACR-23 and ACR-16.



and ACR-23 to either 1.5 mM betaine and ACR-20 to 10 mM betaine and all three to 100  $\mu$ M ACh. There are 2-3 responses to each drug for each biological replicate, and 3 biological replicates per group. Error bars represent mean  $\pm$  95% confidence interval. No response to betaine was observed for ACR-16, and no response to ACh for ACR-23 and only a negligible response for ACR-20.

Variation in the ability of oocytes to express receptors should affect *acr-16* and *acr-20/acr-23* in the same way. A robust internal standard must therefore show a linear correlation between the betaine and ACh response for each oocyte.

The next test to validate the internal control determined whether or not a linear relationship exists between ACh and betaine responses. If the oocyte has properties that increase or decrease its ability to produce protein receptors, then those properties would be expected to affect *acr-16* and *acr-20/acr-23* in the same way. Oocytes were co-injected with 13ng *acr-16* and 13 ng *acr-20* or *acr-23*, and

exposed to acetylcholine and betaine, separately as before. The correlations between their responses are shown in Figure 5.



responses for *acr-20*, with a  $\mathbb{R}^2$  value of 0.8686. (b) A linear relationship exists between betaine and ACh response for *acr-23*, with an  $\mathbb{R}^2$  value of 0.8725. Dme-ACR-16 is therefore an appropriate internal control for expression for both ACR-20 and ACR-23

A linear correlation was found between betaine and acetylcholine response for both ACR-20 and ACR-23, indicating their responses share a dependency on the quality of the oocyte in which they are expressed. ACR-16 was therefore used as an internal reference going forward.

# 4.2.6 Poisoning Experiment Using Internal Controls

The poisoning experiment was repeated, co-injecting every oocyte with 13ng *dme-acr-16* RNA in addition to the previous RNA injection scheme. Each oocyte was then treated with 100  $\mu$ M ACh, as well as 1.5 mM betaine for *acr*-20 and 10 mM betaine for *acr*-23. Each oocyte was treated three times with ACh and three times with betaine. The average of these responses was used to represent each biological replicate in Figure 6.



**Figure 6**. Normalized Poisoning Experiment. All values are normalized by diving betaine responses by acetylcholine responses on a per-oocyte basis. Error bars represent mean  $\pm$  95% confidence interval. Injections with truncated subunits were compared to homomers of fulllength subunits to test for homomer and heteromers formation separately. F - and P -values show results of one-way ANOVA. (a) Poisoning effect on *acr-20* homomers. Here, a statistically significant poisoning effect is observed for homomeric channels. (b) Poisoning effect of truncated *acr-23* on full-length *acr-20*. Here, the p-value shows no statistical significance. Overlap between error bars provides inconclusive evidence of a poisoning effect, indicating too much variability between oocytes. Therefore, evidence for a poisoning effect is inconclusive for heteromers. (c) Poisoning effect on *acr-23* homomers. Here, a statistically significant poisoning effect is observed for homomeric channels. (d) Poisoning effect of truncated *acr-20* on full-length *acr-23*. Here, there is statistically significant evidence for no poisoning effect. This is apparent in the 1:5 full-length to truncated subunit injection, which did not result in smaller maximal responses compared to the 1:1 ratio. This suggests heteromers were not formed with truncated subunits.

Both *acr-20* and *acr-23* homomers showed an observable poisoning effect by co-injecting an increasing concentration of their own truncated subunits. This established that the poisoning experiment worked as expected in the presence of *Dme-acr-16*. Considerable variability remains for oocytes injected with full-length *acr-20*.

The profile for ACR-20 co-injected with increasing concentrations of truncated-*acr-23* subunits was clearly different than when co-injected with truncated ACR-20. There did not appear to be evidence for a dose dependent poisoning effect, although the decrease in response upon the addition of more truncated subunit was not significant in either case due to the variability associated with the ACR-20 response which resulted in large, overlapping error bars (see below).

Taking error bars into consideration, the average normalized responses for *acr-20*/truncated*acr-23* heteromers are not significantly different from the full-length *acr-20* homomer. Furthermore, if a poisoning effect were present, there should be a clear difference between the *acr-20*/truncated-*acr-23* injected oocytes at a 1:1 and a 1:5 ratio. No such difference can be observed.

The response of *acr-23* co-injected with truncated-*acr-20* showed no evidence for a poisoning effect. While responses for the 1:1 and 1:5 ratios were both smaller than *acr-23* injected on its own, the betaine response for the 1:5 ratio was not significantly lower than the 1:1 ratio. Interestingly, the least oocyte variability was observed for the *acr-23*/truncated-*acr-20* injected oocytes. This points towards a specific problem with expression of the ACR-20 subunit, examined in the next section.

# 4.2.7 Poisoning Receptor Function With Truncated Subunits

The truncated subunits used in this study have an intact amino-terminal and interface at the ligand binding domain, but are missing the last two transmembrane domains, intracellular loop and carboxyl terminal. This modified version of each subunit produced no current through the oocyte

membrane on their own. When present along with the full-length version of the same subunit, there was a dose dependent poisoning of the betaine response.

The poisoning experiment provides evidence that there is reduced interaction between the ACR-20 and ACR-23 subunits, based on the extra-cellular domain and first two transmembrane regions. Further confirmation would be required before concluding that the two subunits do not form a heteromeric receptor, but it appears that there has been an evolutionary adaptation to favor formation of the homopentameric receptors.

#### 4.3 Cytotoxic Effect of ACR-20

Throughout the course of this study, oocytes injected with acr-20 were shown an increased variability in terms of their ability to clamp at -60 mV or to detectably respond to betaine. The TEVC electrophysiology used in this study requires the voltage across the oocyte membrane be clamped at -60 mV. The basal current, or clamping current, required to achieve this membrane potential reveals the oocyte's ability to allow ions to pass across its membrane in the absence of exogenous activating ligand (Goldin, 2006). If this current was below -1000 nA, the oocyte was discarded in the study presented here. A value of -200 nA is more typically used as a threshold value. However, there were inherent problems when expressing ACR-20 that lead to accepting a more lenient threshold current. More oocytes injected with ACR-20 required a current below -1000 nA to clamp, suggesting an issue with membrane integrity. Qualitatively, a general increase in discoloration of the oocytes was also observed for acr-20 injected oocytes. The brightness of unfertilized oocytes is generally considered a measure of their overall health, as they tend to dim and take on a mottled appearance as they die (Goldin, 2006). Interestingly, the same was not observed in oocytes injected with other subunits nor the truncated version of *acr-20* alone. Since the truncated subunit does not encode a functional subunit, this implies the effect could be caused by the oocyte expressing a population of ACR-20 homomeric receptors that are leaky or spontaneously open. To investigate this further and to determine if there was a correlation with ACR-20 expression, the ability of oocytes to clamp at -60 mV was determined.

Figure 7 shows the proportion of oocytes that required a clamping current in excess of -1000 nA to maintain -60 mV for the poisoning experiment shown in Figure 6. This proportion was consistently higher with oocytes injected with *acr-20* compared to those injected with *acr-23*.



To provide a viability assay, a series of oocytes injected with *acr-20* alone at concentrations of 500 ng/ $\mu$ L, 250 ng/ $\mu$ L, 125 ng/ $\mu$ L and 62 ng/ $\mu$ L were tested for their ability to clamp at -60 mV. Each oocyte was then pierced by electrodes and the current required to clamp at -60 mV was recorded. During this process, each oocyte was also tested for their ability to respond to betaine. As long as at least one oocyte in a given batch was able to respond to betaine, indicating the integrity of the RNA injected, the measurement of membrane potential for every oocyte in that batch were included in the assay. The results are shown in Figure 8.



**Figure 8**. Viability assay comparing oocyte clamping values. n = 24 for each experimental group. Dot plots indicate biological replicates for each concentration of *acr-20* injected. As the concentration of *acr-20* injected increases, the current passing through oocytes to clamp them at -60 mV increases, indicating a decrease in membrane integrity. This oocyte viability assay did not pass the normality test (alpha = 0.05). Therefore, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used to test for statistical significance.

As the concentration of *acr-20* injected increases, the proportion of oocytes requiring a clamping current above –1000 nA increases. Not all oocytes behaved the same way, and some were able to clamp with low current despite the maximal concentration of cRNA injected. As can be seen from Fig. 7, oocytes that clamp successfully responded to betaine.

In a previous study, the expression of ACR-23 was found to be toxic to *Xenopus* oocytes (Peden et al., 2013). In the present study, the viability of *acr-20*-injected oocytes showed a much greater toxic effect on oocytes. Given that *acr-20* and *acr-23* arose from the same gene duplication event, this may be a feature they share. Furthermore, monepantel has shown to irreversibly open ACR-20 homomers (Baur et al., 2015). While an irreversible response was not observed for betaine, the recovery time between doses for betaine on *acr-20* receptors was observed to be longer than that for *acr-23*, suggesting *acr-20* receptors are slower to close their channels after exposure to ligand.

These viability assays suggest that the functional homomeric ACR-20 receptor, when expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes, may spend a significant fraction of its time in an open configuration and therefore produce a cytotoxic effect.

# **5-** Conclusion

Gene duplication is understood to be essential to adaptation, and precedes the emergence of new functions (Ohno, 1970). The duplication of *mptl-1* occurred in the *Caenorhabditis* lineage after the speciation event that led to the divergence of *H. contortus* and *C. elegans* as separate species. Since *C. elegans* is not a parasitic species, *C. elegans* presumably posed a different set of evolutionary pressures on these duplicate genes, creating conditions conducive to a change in function. This change in function is reflected in the identification of different evolutionary rates acting on *acr-20* and *acr-23* using PAML, and the exclusion mechanism suggested by the results of the electrophysiology experiments.

PAML analysis identified evidence for the relatively rapid evolution of an exclusion mechanism in *acr-20* and *acr-23* since their split from their ancestor, *mptl-1*. Rapid evolution involves increased amounts of sequence change as well as a relaxed rate of evolutionary pressure acting on those changes. This rapid evolution can be linked to neofunctionalization, which would lead to new protein-protein interactions, or to subfunctionalization, which would reduce the set of proteins the subunit is able to interact with. Either scenario could explain the emergence of an exclusion mechanism. Presumably, once this change in function has occurred, evolutionary pressure becomes more strongly purifying and prevents further sequence change. Small  $\omega$  values, indicating strong purifying selection pressure, were identified in *acr-20* and *acr-23*, which could indicate that this functional change has occurred and is becoming fixed in the population. Furthermore, *acr-20* and *acr-23* were identified to likely have different evolutionary rates from each other, implying evolutionary divergence occurred since the original split from their ancestral *mptl-1*.

There was some evidence that the *acr-20* clade could be evolving differently from the *acr-23* clade, since clade models were an improvement when differing the rate class for only *acr-20* and only *acr-23*, respectively. The clade model with different rate classes for both *acr-20* and *acr-23* scored lower than models with a different rate class for only *acr-23* or only *acr-20*. This could be an

observational artifact of a complex likelihood surface which prevented the algorithm from finding global optima, or it could be evidence that suggests *acr-20* is evolving at a different rate from *acr-23*, in which case *acr-20* could be undergoing a functional change on its own. It is also possible *acr-23* did not change function immediately after the duplication event, but after the gene was established in the population.

Evidence for an exclusion mechanism was identified from co-expression with the truncated subunit forms. A clear reduction in function was observed when truncated subunits were incorporated into *acr-23* homomers, but not for *acr-23* heteromers. The same pattern was true for *acr-20*, but the increased variability due to the apparent cytotoxicity for the oocytes meant that the 1:5 ratio showed a significant reduction for the truncated *acr-20* but the 1:1 ratio did not. This study lays out an important feature of *acr-20* in terms of increased rates of cytotoxicity in *Xenopus* oocytes. The observation that *acr-20* has a more cytotoxic effect than *acr-23* might be explained by functional divergence. If the *acr-20* homomers cause ions to leak through the channel, this could serve a purpose if *acr-20* is expressed in tissues where the ion concentration gradient between cells would not cause excessive leakage, or if *acr-20* serves a purpose as a leaky channel for functions such as nociceptive transduction (Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010).

This study represents an important piece of the evolutionary story of ion channel diversity, structure, and evolution in terms of how homomeric pLGIC subunits might be maintained in a population. The evolution of an exclusion mechanism could explain how subunits maintain their subunit binding specificity. Conversely, identifying where an exclusion mechanism has not evolved could indicate which subunits are able to form heteromers.

#### 5.1 Future Work

A complete understanding of *acr-20* and *acr-23* as homomeric pLGIC is still underway. Further study of their binding behaviors could prove useful to understand the hypothesized exclusion mechanism laid out by this study.

It is worth noting that *acr-20, acr-23,* and *mptl-1* are not known to require accessory proteins to be expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes (Rufener et al., 2013, Baur et al., 2015). However, it could still be worthwhile to test whether co-injections with *ric-3*, an accessory protein required by many pLGIC for proper assembly, effects their functional expression (Ben-Ami et al., 2005). It could also be interesting

to determine whether the toxic effect of ACR-20 expression could be mitigated by RIC-3, which may improve the stability of subunits to ensure they are properly assembled.

Patch clamp electrophysiology could be used to detect ionic currents through a single receptor at a time, rather than TEVC, which looks at the summation of responses for an entire population of receptors (Sakmann & Neher, 1984). This means the patch clamp method could identify heteromers based solely on their EC<sub>50</sub> values.

The poisoning experiment could be repeated with truncated subunits that constitute the second half of each subunit, spanning only the third and fourth transmembrane domain as well as the carboxyl terminal, to test if the poisoning effect persists. This could tell us whether the receptor behaves differently when it incorporates truncated subunits lacking a ligand-binding domain. If a poisoning effect isn't observed with these alternatively truncated subunits, this would narrow down the area of the subunit where the hypothesized exclusion mechanism evolved for easier investigation in future projects.

In this project, the exclusion mechanism was hypothesized to have physical, temporal, and spatial components, but only the physical components were investigated. The temporal and spatial components could be explored with an additional project to build and inject fluorescently labeled plasmids into *C. elegans*. Fluorescent tags of opposing colors could be fused to protein immediately after the signal peptide of each subunit. Confocal microscopy would then be used detect fluorescence where these subunits are expressed somatically, and at different points in the *C. elegans* life cycle.

#### **5.2 Impact of the Covid Pandemic**

This project was interrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic, hindering access to the laboratory, and reducing the total number of hours spent in the wet lab. While work continued, data collection for electrophysiology slowed significantly. This methodology is generally time consuming, which means sample sizes were smaller than originally planned. During the course of the experiments, it became clear that due to the nature of these particular receptors, variability was a constant complicating factor. The normal response would have been to increase sample size, but due to circumstances this was not possible. Instead, a method to provide an internal control in the form of ACR-16 was developed.

# **5.3 Implications of Findings**

This study represents a small piece of the puzzle of our understanding of how ion receptors have evolved, and what mechanisms influence receptor oligomeric state. Since anthelmintic resistance in nematodes is a rapidly growing problem, there is clear motive to continue investigating the structure and evolution of these important drug targets. Furthermore, because pLGIC are involved in neurotransmission responsible for motility in all animals, and *C. elegans* is a common laboratory model for understanding receptors other vertebrates, this work can be extended to fields outside the domain of parasitology to understand the evolution of muscle control at large. Wherever pLGIC are acting to mediate synaptic transmission at the neuromuscular junction, the evolution of their subunits is an important feature to understand their binding behavior, stoichiometry, and subsequent effect on the receptors they form.

How homomeric subunits maintain their binding exclusivity remains to be fully understood. This study shows a promising method of studying this binding behavior, using subunits that are products of recent gene duplication events. Groundwork has been laid out for the continuation of this study, particularly to look for further evidence of an exclusion mechanism that has spatial or temporal components.

# 6- References:

Abongwa, M., Buxton, S. K., Courtot, E., Charvet, C. L., Neveu, C., McCoy, C. J., Verma, S., Robertson, A. P., & Martin, R. J. (2016). Pharmacological profile of *Ascaris suum* ACR-16, a new homomeric nicotinic acetylcholine receptor widely distributed in *Ascaris* tissues: *Asu* -ACR-16 expression and pharmacology. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *173*(16), 2463–2477. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13524

Abongwa, M., Martin, R. J., & Robertson, A. P. (2017). A brief review on the mode of action of antinematodal drugs. *Acta Veterinaria*, 67(2), 137–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/acve-2017-0013</u> Arnegard, M. E., Zwickl, D. J., Lu, Y., & Zakon, H. H. (2010). Old gene duplication facilitates origin and diversification of an innovative communication system—Twice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(51), 22172–22177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1011803107</u>

Bagnall, N. H., Ruffell, A., Raza, A., Elliott, T. P., Lamb, J., Hunt, P. W., & Kotze, A. C. (2017). Mutations in the Hco-mptl-1 gene in a field-derived monepantel-resistant isolate of Haemonchus contortus. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, 7(2), 236–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2017.05.001

Bamber, B. A., Twyman, R. E., & Jorgensen, E. M. (2003). Pharmacological characterization of the homomeric and heteromeric UNC-49 GABA receptors in *C. elegans. British Journal of Pharmacology*, *138*(5), 883–893. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0705119</u>

Barrantes, F. J. (2015). Phylogenetic conservation of protein–lipid motifs in pentameric ligand-gated ion channels. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*, *1848*(9), 1796–1805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2015.03.028

Barrère, V., Beech, R. N., Charvet, C. L., & Prichard, R. K. (2014). Novel assay for the detection and monitoring of levamisole resistance in Haemonchus contortus. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 44(3–4), 235–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2013.12.004</u>

Baur, R., Beech, R., Sigel, E., & Rufener, L. (2015). Monepantel Irreversibly Binds to and Opens *Haemonchus contortus* MPTL-1 and *Caenorhabditis elegans* ACR-20 Receptors. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 87(1), 96–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.114.095653</u>

Beech, R. N., Skuce, P., Bartley, D. J., Martin, R. J., Prichard, R. K., & Gilleard, J. S. (2011). Anthelmintic resistance: Markers for resistance, or susceptibility? *Parasitology*, *138*(2), 160–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182010001198</u>

Beech, Robin N., Callanan, M. K., Rao, V. T. S., Dawe, G. B., & Forrester, S. G. (2013). Characterization of cys-loop receptor genes involved in inhibitory amine neurotransmission in parasitic and free living nematodes. *Parasitology International*, *62*(6), 599–605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parint.2013.03.010</u>

Beech, Robin N., & Neveu, C. (2015). The evolution of pentameric ligand-gated ion-channels and the changing family of anthelmintic drug targets. *Parasitology*, *142*(2), 303–317. https://doi.org/10.1017/S003118201400170X

Ben-Ami, H. C., Yassin, L., Farah, H., Michaeli, A., Eshel, M., & Treinin, M. (2005). RIC-3 Affects Properties and Quantity of Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors via a Mechanism That Does Not Require the Coiled-coil Domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *280*(30), 28053–28060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M504369200</u>

Bennett, H. M., Williamson, S. M., Walsh, T. K., Woods, D. J., & Wolstenholme, A. J. (2012). ACR-26: A novel nicotinic receptor subunit of parasitic nematodes. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, *183*(2), 151–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2012.02.010</u>

Berkowitz, L. A., Knight, A. L., Caldwell, G. A., & Caldwell, K. A. (2008). Generation of Stable Transgenic C. elegans Using Microinjection. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, *18*, 833. <u>https://doi.org/10.3791/833</u>

Berleth, M., Berleth, N., Minges, A., Hänsch, S., Burkart, R. C., Stork, B., Stahl, Y., Weidtkamp-Peters, S., Simon, R., & Groth, G. (2019). Molecular Analysis of Protein-Protein Interactions in the Ethylene Pathway in the Different Ethylene Receptor Subfamilies. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *10*, 15. Berridge, M. J. (2014). Module 3: Ion Channels. *Cell Signalling Biology*, *6*, csb0001003. https://doi.org/10.1042/csb0001003

Bertrand, D., & Gopalakrishnan, M. (2007). Allosteric modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *74*(8), 1155–1163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2007.07.011</u>

Bielawski, JosephP., & Yang, Z. (2004). A Maximum Likelihood Method for Detecting Functional Divergence at Individual Codon Sites, with Application to Gene Family Evolution. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, *59*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00239-004-2597-8</u>

Blanchard, A., Guégnard, F., Charvet, C. L., Crisford, A., Courtot, E., Sauvé, C., Harmache, A.,

Duguet, T., O'Connor, V., Castagnone-Sereno, P., Reaves, B., Wolstenholme, A. J., Beech, R. N., Holden-Dye, L., & Neveu, C. (2018). Deciphering the molecular determinants of cholinergic anthelmintic sensitivity in nematodes: When novel functional validation approaches highlight major differences between the model Caenorhabditis elegans and parasitic species. *PLOS Pathogens*, *14*(5), e1006996. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006996</u>

Blaxter, M. (2011). Nematodes: The Worm and Its Relatives. *PLoS Biology*, 9(4), e1001050. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001050

Blaxter, M., & Koutsovoulos, G. (2015). The evolution of parasitism in Nematoda. *Parasitology*, *142*(S1), S26–S39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182014000791</u>

Blaxter, M. L., De Ley, P., Garey, J. R., Liu, L. X., Scheldeman, P., Vierstraete, A., Vanfleteren, J. R., Mackey, L. Y., Dorris, M., Frisse, L. M., Vida, J. T., & Thomas, W. K. (1998). A molecular evolutionary framework for the phylum Nematoda. *Nature*, *392*(6671), 71–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/32160</u> Boffi, J. C., Marcovich, I., Gill-Thind, J. K., Corradi, J., Collins, T., Lipovsek, M. M., Moglie, M., Plazas, P. V., Craig, P. O., Millar, N. S., Bouzat, C., & Elgoyhen, A. B. (2017). Differential Contribution of Subunit Interfaces to *α* 9 *α* 10 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Function. *Molecular* 

*Pharmacology*, 91(3), 250–262. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.116.107482

Bormann, J., Rundstrom, N., Betz, H., & Langosch, D. (n.d.). *Residues within transmembrane segment M2 determine chloride conductance of glycine receptor homo- and hetero-oligomers.* 9.

Boulin, T., Fauvin, A., Charvet, C., Cortet, J., Cabaret, J., Bessereau, J.-L., & Neveu, C. (2011). Functional reconstitution of Haemonchus contortus acetylcholine receptors in Xenopus oocytes provides mechanistic insights into levamisole resistance: Expression of H. contortus AChR in Xenopus oocytes. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *164*(5), 1421–1432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01420.x</u>

Boulin, T., Gielen, M., Richmond, J. E., Williams, D. C., Paoletti, P., & Bessereau, J.-L. (2008). Eight genes are required for functional reconstitution of the Caenorhabditis elegans levamisole-sensitive acetylcholine receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(47), 18590–18595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806933105</u>

Bourque, G., Burns, K. H., Gehring, M., Gorbunova, V., Seluanov, A., Hammell, M., Imbeault, M., Izsvák, Z., Levin, H. L., Macfarlan, T. S., Mager, D. L., & Feschotte, C. (2018). Ten things you should know about transposable elements. *Genome Biology*, *19*(1), 199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-018-1577-z</u>

Bozorgmehr, J. E. H. (2012). The effect of functional compensation among duplicate genes can constrain their evolutionary divergence. *Journal of Genetics*, *91*(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-012-0125-y</u> Brown, L. A., Jones, A. K., Buckingham, S. D., Mee, C. J., & Sattelle, D. B. (2006). Contributions from Caenorhabditis elegans functional genetics to antiparasitic drug target identification and validation: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, a case study. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *36*(6), 617–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2006.01.016</u>

Brown, M. R., Kronengold, J., Gazula, V.-R., Chen, Y., Strumbos, J. G., Sigworth, F. J., Navaratnam, D., & Kaczmarek, L. K. (2010). Fragile X mental retardation protein controls gating of the sodium-activated potassium channel Slack. *Nature Neuroscience*, *13*(7), 819–821. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2563

Buxton, S. K., Charvet, C. L., Neveu, C., Cabaret, J., Cortet, J., Peineau, N., Abongwa, M., Courtot, E., Robertson, A. P., & Martin, R. J. (2014). Investigation of Acetylcholine Receptor Diversity in a Nematode Parasite Leads to Characterization of Tribendimidine- and Derquantel-Sensitive nAChRs. *PLoS Pathogens*, *10*(1), e1003870. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003870

Callanan, M. K., Habibi, S. A., Law, W. J., Nazareth, K., Komuniecki, R. L., & Forrester, S. G. (2018). Investigating the function and possible biological role of an acetylcholine-gated chloride channel subunit (ACC-1) from the parasitic nematode Haemonchus contortus. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, 8(3), 526–533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2018.10.010</u> Cardoso, J. C. R., Félix, R. C., & Power, D. M. (2014). Nematode and Arthropod Genomes Provide New Insights into the Evolution of Class 2 B1 GPCRs. *PLoS ONE*, 9(3), e92220. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092220

Carey, L. B., van Dijk, D., Sloot, P. M. A., Kaandorp, J. A., & Segal, E. (2013). Promoter Sequence Determines the Relationship between Expression Level and Noise. *PLoS Biology*, *11*(4), e1001528. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001528

Casola, C., & Betrán, E. (2017). The Genomic Impact of Gene Retrocopies: What Have We Learned from Comparative Genomics, Population Genomics, and Transcriptomic Analyses? *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 9(6), 1351–1373. https://doi.org/10.1093/gbe/evx081

Changeux, J.-P. (2012). The Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor: The Founding Father of the Pentameric Ligand-gated Ion Channel Superfamily. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(48), 40207–40215. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R112.407668

Charvet, C. L., Guégnard, F., Courtot, E., Cortet, J., & Neveu, C. (2018). Nicotine-sensitive acetylcholine receptors are relevant pharmacological targets for the control of multidrug resistant parasitic nematodes. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, 8(3), 540–549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2018.11.003</u>

Chatzigeorgiou, M., Yoo, S., Watson, J. D., Lee, W.-H., Spencer, W. C., Kindt, K. S., Hwang, S. W., Miller III, D. M., Treinin, M., Driscoll, M., & Schafer, W. R. (2010). Specific roles for DEG/ENaC and TRP channels in touch and thermosensation in C. elegans nociceptors. *Nature Neuroscience*, *13*(7), 861–868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2581</u>

Cheng, X., Wang, H., Grant, B., Sine, S. M., & McCammon, J. A. (2006). Targeted Molecular Dynamics Study of C-Loop Closure and Channel Gating in Nicotinic Receptors. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *2*(9), e134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.0020134</u>

Choudhary, S., Buxton, S. K., Puttachary, S., Verma, S., Mair, G. R., McCoy, C. J., Reaves, B. J., Wolstenholme, A. J., Martin, R. J., & Robertson, A. P. (2020). EAT-18 is an essential auxiliary protein interacting with the non-alpha nAChR subunit EAT-2 to form a functional receptor. *PLOS Pathogens*, *16*(4), e1008396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008396</u>

Chuong, E. B., Elde, N. C., & Feschotte, C. (2017). Regulatory activities of transposable elements: From conflicts to benefits. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *18*(2), 71–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.139

Chute, C. D., DiLoreto, E. M., Zhang, Y. K., Reilly, D. K., Rayes, D., Coyle, V. L., Choi, H. J., Alkema, M. J., Schroeder, F. C., & Srinivasan, J. (2019). Co-option of neurotransmitter signaling for inter-

organismal communication in C. elegans. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3186. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11240-7

Cohen, E., Chatzigeorgiou, M., Husson, S. J., Steuer-Costa, W., Gottschalk, A., Schafer, W. R., & Treinin, M. (2014). Caenorhabditis elegans nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are required for nociception. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *59*, 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2014.02.001

Conant, G. C., & Wolfe, K. H. (2008). Turning a hobby into a job: How duplicated genes find new functions. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *9*(12), 938–950. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2482</u>

Connolly, C. N., & Wafford, K. A. (2004). The Cys-loop superfamily of ligand-gated ion channels: The impact of receptor structure on function. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *32*(3), 529–534. https://doi.org/10.1042/bst0320529

Cooper, E., Couturier, S., & Ballivet, M. (1991). Pentameric structure and subunit stoichiometry of a neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Nature*, *350*(6315), 235–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/350235a0

Corringer, P.-J., Novère, N. L., & Changeux, J.-P. (2000). Nicotinic Receptors at the Amino Acid Level. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, *40*(1), 431–458. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.40.1.431

Courtot, E., Charvet, C. L., Beech, R. N., Harmache, A., Wolstenholme, A. J., Holden-Dye, L., O'Connor, V., Peineau, N., Woods, D. J., & Neveu, C. (2015). Functional Characterization of a Novel Class of Morantel-Sensitive Acetylcholine Receptors in Nematodes. *PLOS Pathogens*, *11*(12), e1005267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005267</u>

Davis, J. C., & Petrov, D. A. (2004). Preferential Duplication of Conserved Proteins in Eukaryotic Genomes. *PLoS Biology*, 2(3), e55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0020055</u>

Degani-Katzav, N., Gortler, R., Gorodetzki, L., & Paas, Y. (2016). Subunit stoichiometry and arrangement in a heteromeric glutamate-gated chloride channel. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(5), E644–E653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1423753113</u>

Dent, J. A. (2006). Evidence for a Diverse Cys-Loop Ligand-Gated Ion Channel Superfamily in Early Bilateria. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 62(5), 523–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00239-005-0018-2</u>

Domes, K., Ding, J., Lemke, T., Blaich, A., Wegener, J. W., Brandmayr, J., Moosmang, S., & Hofmann, F. (2011). Truncation of Murine Ca<sub>v</sub> 1.2 at Asp-1904 Results in Heart Failure after Birth. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(39), 33863–33871. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.252312

Dufour, V., Beech, R. N., Wever, C., Dent, J. A., & Geary, T. G. (2013). Molecular Cloning and Characterization of Novel Glutamate-Gated Chloride Channel Subunits from Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Pathogens*, *9*(8), e1003586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003586</u>

Duguet, T. (2017). Subunit diversity of the nematode levamisole-sensitive acetylcholine receptor. PhD, McGill University.

Duguet, T. B., Charvet, C. L., Forrester, S. G., Wever, C. M., Dent, J. A., Neveu, C., & Beech, R. N. (2016). Recent Duplication and Functional Divergence in Parasitic Nematode Levamisole-Sensitive Acetylcholine Receptors. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *10*(7), e0004826. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0004826

Dwyer, D. S., Aamodt, E., Cohen, B., & Buttner, E. A. (2014). Drug elucidation: Invertebrate genetics sheds new light on the molecular targets of CNS drugs. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *5*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2014.00177</u>

Elkhatib, W., Smith, C. L., & Senatore, A. (2019). A Na+ leak channel cloned from Trichoplax adhaerens extends extracellular pH and Ca2+ sensing for the DEG/ENaC family close to the base of Metazoa. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *294*(44), 16320–16336. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.010542 Feng, Z., Li, W., Ward, A., Piggott, B. J., Larkspur, E. R., Sternberg, P. W., & Xu, X. Z. S. (2006). A C. elegans Model of Nicotine-Dependent Behavior: Regulation by TRP-Family Channels. *Cell*, *127*(3), 621–633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.035</u>

Fleming, J. T., Squire, M. D., Barnes, T. M., Tornoe, C., Matsuda, K., Ahnn, J., Fire, A., Sulston, J. E., Barnard, E. A., Sattelle, D. B., & Lewis, J. A. (1997). *Caenorhabditis elegans* Levamisole Resistance Genes *lev-1*, *unc-29*, and *unc-38* Encode Functional Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Subunits. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *17*(15), 5843–5857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-15-05843.1997</u> Flores-Ponce, M., Vallebueno-Estrada, M., González-Orozco, E., Ramos-Aboites, H. E., García-

Chávez, J. N., Simões, N., & Montiel, R. (2017). Signatures of co-evolutionary host-pathogen interactions in the genome of the entomopathogenic nematode Steinernema carpocapsae. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, *17*(1), 108. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-017-0935-x

Force, A., Lynch, M., Pickett, F. B., Amores, A., Yan, Y., & Postlethwait, J. (n.d.). *Preservation of Duplicate Genes by Complementary, Degenerative Mutations*. 16.

Fru, M. F., & Puoti, A. (2014). Acquired resistance to monepantel in *C. elegans*: What about parasitic nematodes? *Worm*, *3*(3), e959416. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/21624046.2014.959416</u>

Fuller, P. J., Yao, Y.-Z., Jin, R., He, S., Martín-Fernández, B., Young, M. J., & Smith, B. J. (2019). Molecular evolution of the switch for progesterone and spironolactone from mineralocorticoid receptor agonist to antagonist. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(37), 18578–18583. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1903172116

Gammaitoni, L. (1995). Stochastic resonance and the dithering effect in threshold physical systems. *Physical Review E*, *52*(5), 4691–4698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.52.4691</u>

Gao, F., Chen, C., Arab, D. A., Du, Z., He, Y., & Ho, S. Y. W. (2019). EasyCodeML: A visual tool for analysis of selection using CodeML. *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(7), 3891–3898. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5015

Gibson, T. A., & Goldberg, D. S. (2009). Questioning the Ubiquity of Neofunctionalization. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 5(1), e1000252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000252</u>

Gillespie, J. I. (1983). The distribution of small ions during the early development of Xenopus laevis and Ambystoma mexicanum embryos. *The Journal of Physiology*, *344*(1), 359–377. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1983.sp014945

Gisselmann, G., Plonka, J., Pusch, H., & Hatt, H. (2004). *Drosophila melanogaster* GRD and LCCH3 subunits form heteromultimeric GABA-gated cation channels. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *142*(3), 409–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0705818

Goldin, A. L. (2006). Expression of Ion Channels in Xenopus Oocytes. In J. J. Clare & D. J. Trezise (Eds.), *Expression and Analysis of Recombinant Ion Channels* (pp. 1–25). Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/3527608095.ch1</u>

Gonzalez-Gutierrez, G., & Grosman, C. (2015). The atypical cation-conduction and gating properties of ELIC underscore the marked functional versatility of the pentameric ligand-gated ion-channel fold. *Journal of General Physiology*, *146*(1), 15–36. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201411333

Gout, J.-F., & Lynch, M. (2015). Maintenance and Loss of Duplicated Genes by Dosage Subfunctionalization. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *32*(8), 2141–2148. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msv095

Guindon, S., Delsuc, F., Dufayard, J.-F., & Gascuel, O. (2009). Estimating Maximum Likelihood Phylogenies with PhyML. In D. Posada (Ed.), *Bioinformatics for DNA Sequence Analysis* (Vol. 537, pp. 113–137). Humana Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-251-9\_6</u>

Guindon, S., Dufayard, J.-F., Lefort, V., Anisimova, M., Hordijk, W., & Gascuel, O. (2010). New Algorithms and Methods to Estimate Maximum-Likelihood Phylogenies: Assessing the Performance of PhyML 3.0. *Systematic Biology*, *59*(3), 307–321. https://doi.org/10.1093/sysbio/syq010

Habibi, S. A., Callanan, M., & Forrester, S. G. (2018). Molecular and pharmacological characterization of an acetylcholine-gated chloride channel (ACC-2) from the parasitic nematode Haemonchus

contortus. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, 8(3), 518–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2018.09.004

Hahn, M. W. (2009). Distinguishing Among Evolutionary Models for the Maintenance of Gene Duplicates. *Journal of Heredity*, *100*(5), 605–617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esp047</u>

Halevi, S. (2002). The C.elegansric-3 gene is required for maturation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *The EMBO Journal*, *21*(5), 1012–1020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/21.5.1012</u>

Hannan, S., & Smart, T. G. (2018). Cell surface expression of homomeric GABA A receptors depends on single residues in subunit transmembrane domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(35), 13427–13439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.002792</u>

Hansen, S. B., & Taylor, P. (2007). Galanthamine and Non-competitive Inhibitor Binding to AChbinding Protein: Evidence for a Binding Site on Non-α-subunit Interfaces of Heteromeric Neuronal Nicotinic Receptors. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *369*(4), 895–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2007.03.067

Hashimoto, K., & Panchenko, A. R. (2010). Mechanisms of protein oligomerization, the critical role of

insertions and deletions in maintaining different oligomeric states. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(47), 20352–20357. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1012999107

Hastings, P. J., Lupski, J. R., Rosenberg, S. M., & Ira, G. (2009). Mechanisms of change in gene copy number. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(8), 551–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2593</u>

Holden-Dye, L., Joyner, M., O'Connor, V., & Walker, R. J. (2013). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: A comparison of the nAChRs of Caenorhabditis elegans and parasitic nematodes. *Parasitology International*, *62*(6), 606–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parint.2013.03.004</u>

Horak, M., Al-Hallaq, R. A., Chang, K., & Wenthold, R. J. (2008). Role of the fourth membrane domain of the NR2B subunit in the assembly of the NMDA receptor. *Channels*, *2*(3), 159–160. https://doi.org/10.4161/chan.2.3.6188

Horiike, T. (2016). AN INTRODUCTION TO MOLECULAR PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS. *Reviews in Agricultural Science*, *4*(0), 36–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.7831/ras.4.36</u>

Hotez, P. J., Brindley, P. J., Bethony, J. M., King, C. H., Pearce, E. J., & Jacobson, J. (2008). Helminth infections: The great neglected tropical diseases. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *118*(4), 1311–1321. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI34261

Howe, K. L., Bolt, B. J., Cain, S., Chan, J., Chen, W. J., Davis, P., Done, J., Down, T., Gao, S., Grove, C., Harris, T. W., Kishore, R., Lee, R., Lomax, J., Li, Y., Muller, H.-M., Nakamura, C., Nuin, P., Paulini, M., ... Sternberg, P. W. (2016). WormBase 2016: Expanding to enable helminth genomic research. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *44*(D1), D774–D780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1217</u> Hulme, E. C., & Trevethick, M. A. (2010). Ligand binding assays at equilibrium: Validation and interpretation: Equilibrium binding assays. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *161*(6), 1219–1237.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00604.x

Hurles, M. (2004). Gene Duplication: The Genomic Trade in Spare Parts. *PLoS Biology*, 2(7), e206. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0020206

Idris, O. A., Wintola, O. A., & Afolayan, A. J. (2019). Helminthiases; prevalence, transmission, host-parasite interactions, resistance to common synthetic drugs and treatment. *Heliyon*, *5*(1), e01161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01161

Innan, H., & Kondrashov, F. (2010). The evolution of gene duplications: Classifying and distinguishing between models. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *11*(2), 97–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2689</u> International Helminth Genomes Consortium. (2019). Comparative genomics of the major parasitic worms. *Nature Genetics*, *51*(1), 163–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0262-1</u> Initeh M. Taly A. & Hónin L (2016). Evolution of Pentamerica Ligand Gated Ion Channels: Pro-

Jaiteh, M., Taly, A., & Hénin, J. (2016). Evolution of Pentameric Ligand-Gated Ion Channels: Pro-Loop Receptors. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(3), e0151934. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151934</u> Jones, A. K., Davis, P., Hodgkin, J., & Sattelle, D. B. (2007). The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene family of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans: An update on nomenclature. *Invertebrate Neuroscience*, *7*(2), 129–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10158-007-0049-z

Jones, A. K., & Sattelle, D. B. (2004). Functional genomics of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene family of the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans. *BioEssays*, *26*(1), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.10377

Jones, A. K., & Sattelle, D. B. (2008). The cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel gene superfamily of the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans. *Invertebrate Neuroscience*, *8*(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10158-008-0068-4

Kabbani, N., Nordman, J. C., Corgiat, B. A., Veltri, D. P., Shehu, A., Seymour, V. A., & Adams, D. J. (2013). Are nicotinic acetylcholine receptors coupled to G proteins?: Insights & Perspectives. *BioEssays*, *35*(12), 1025–1034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201300082</u>

Kaji, M. D., Geary, T. G., & Beech, R. N. (2020). A Functional Comparison of Homopentameric Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors (ACR-16) Receptors From Necator americanus and Ancylostoma ceylanicum. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, *13*, 601102.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2020.601102

Kaminsky, R., Ducray, P., Jung, M., Clover, R., Rufener, L., Bouvier, J., Weber, S. S., Wenger, A., Wieland-Berghausen, S., Goebel, T., Gauvry, N., Pautrat, F., Skripsky, T., Froelich, O., Komoin-Oka, C., Westlund, B., Sluder, A., & Mäser, P. (2008). A new class of anthelmintics effective against drug-resistant nematodes. *Nature*, *452*(7184), 176–180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06722</u>

Katju, V. (2006). On the Formation of Novel Genes by Duplication in the Caenorhabditis elegans Genome. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 23(5), 1056–1067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msj114</u> Katju, Vaishali. (2012). In with the Old, in with the New: The Promiscuity of the Duplication Process Engenders Diverse Pathways for Novel Gene Creation. *International Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 2012, 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/341932</u>

Katju, Vaishali, & Lynch, M. (n.d.). *The Structure and Early Evolution of Recently Arisen Gene Duplicates in the Caenorhabditis elegans Genome*. 12.

Katoh, K., & Standley, D. M. (2013). MAFFT Multiple Sequence Alignment Software Version 7: Improvements in Performance and Usability. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *30*(4), 772–780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mst010</u>

Keane, O. M., Toft, C., Carretero-Paulet, L., Jones, G. W., & Fares, M. A. (2014). Preservation of genetic and regulatory robustness in ancient gene duplicates of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Genome Research*, *24*(11), 1830–1841. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.176792.114</u>

Kellis, M., Birren, B. W., & Lander, E. S. (2004). Proof and evolutionary analysis of ancient genome duplication in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Nature*, *428*(6983), 617–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02424</u>

Kimura, M., & Ohta, T. (1974). On Some Principles Governing Molecular Evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *71*(7), 2848–2852. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.71.7.2848
Kotze, A. C., Hunt, P. W., Skuce, P., von Samson-Himmelstjerna, G., Martin, R. J., Sager, H., Krücken, J., Hodgkinson, J., Lespine, A., Jex, A. R., Gilleard, J. S., Beech, R. N., Wolstenholme, A. J., Demeler, J., Robertson, A. P., Charvet, C. L., Neveu, C., Kaminsky, R., Rufener, L., ... Prichard, R. K. (2014).
Recent advances in candidate-gene and whole-genome approaches to the discovery of anthelmintic resistance markers and the description of drug/receptor interactions. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, *4*(3), 164–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2014.07.007
Kugelberg, E., Kofoid, E., Andersson, D. I., Lu, Y., Mellor, J., Roth, F. P., & Roth, J. R. (2010). The Tandem Inversion Duplication in *Salmonella enterica*: Selection Drives Unstable Precursors to Final Mutation Types. *Genetics*, *185*(1), 65–80. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.110.114074
Laing, R., Kikuchi, T., Martinelli, A., Tsai, I. J., Beech, R. N., Redman, E., Holroyd, N., Bartley, D. J., Beasley, H., Britton, C., Curran, D., Devaney, E., Gilabert, A., Hunt, M., Jackson, F., Johnston, S. L.,

Kryukov, I., Li, K., Morrison, A. A., ... Cotton, J. A. (2013). The genome and transcriptome of Haemonchus contortus, a key model parasite for drug and vaccine discovery. *Genome Biology*, *14*(8), R88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-8-r88</u>

Lester, H. (2004). Cys-loop receptors: New twists and turns. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 27(6), 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2004.04.002

Li, B.-W., Rush, A. C., & Weil, G. J. (2015). Expression of five acetylcholine receptor subunit genes in Brugia malayi adult worms. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, 5(3), 100–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2015.04.003</u>

Lipinski, K. J., Farslow, J. C., Fitzpatrick, K. A., Lynch, M., Katju, V., & Bergthorsson, U. (2011). High Spontaneous Rate of Gene Duplication in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Current Biology*, *21*(4), 306–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.01.026</u>

Lipovsek, M., Im, G. J., Franchini, L. F., Pisciottano, F., Katz, E., Fuchs, P. A., & Elgoyhen, A. B. (2012). Phylogenetic differences in calcium permeability of the auditory hair cell cholinergic nicotinic receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(11), 4308–4313. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115488109

Lynch, M. (2000). The Evolutionary Fate and Consequences of Duplicate Genes. *Science*, 290(5494), 1151–1155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.290.5494.1151</u>

Lynch, M. (2002). GENOMICS: Gene Duplication and Evolution. *Science*, *297*(5583), 945–947. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1075472

Lynch, Michael, & Marinov, G. K. (2015). The bioenergetic costs of a gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(51), 15690–15695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1514974112</u> Lynch, Michael, O'Hely, M., Walsh, B., & Force, A. (n.d.). *The Probability of Preservation of a Newly Arisen Gene Duplicate*. 16.

Madeira, F., Park, Y. mi, Lee, J., Buso, N., Gur, T., Madhusoodanan, N., Basutkar, P., Tivey, A. R. N., Potter, S. C., Finn, R. D., & Lopez, R. (2019). The EMBL-EBI search and sequence analysis tools APIs in 2019. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(W1), W636–W641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz268</u>

Mans, B. J., Featherston, J., de Castro, M. H., & Pienaar, R. (2017). Gene Duplication and Protein Evolution in Tick-Host Interactions. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 7, 413. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00413

Martin, R. J., Puttachary, S., Buxton, S. K., Verma, S., & Robertson, A. P. (2015). The Conqueror Worm: Recent advances with cholinergic anthelmintics and techniques excite research for better therapeutic drugs. *Journal of Helminthology*, *89*(4), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022149X1400039X

Meiselbach, H., Vogel, N., Langlhofer, G., Stangl, S., Schleyer, B., Bahnassawy, L., Sticht, H., Breitinger, H.-G., Becker, C.-M., & Villmann, C. (2014). Single Expressed Glycine Receptor Domains Reconstitute Functional Ion Channels without Subunit-specific Desensitization Behavior. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(42), 29135–29147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.559138</u>

Mitreva, M, Blaxter, M., Bird, D., & Mccarter, J. (2005). Comparative genomics of nematodes. *Trends in Genetics*, 21(10), 573–581. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2005.08.003</u>

Mitreva, Makedonka, Blaxter, M. L., Bird, D. M., & McCarter, J. P. (2005). Comparative genomics of nematodes. 9.

Mongan, N. P., Jones, A. K., Smith, G. R., Sansom, M. S. P., & Sattelle, D. B. (2002). Novel α7-like nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Protein Science*, *11*(5), 1162–1171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.3040102</u>

Morales-Perez, C. L., Noviello, C. M., & Hibbs, R. E. (2016a). Manipulation of Subunit Stoichiometry in Heteromeric Membrane Proteins. *Structure*, *24*(5), 797–805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2016.03.004

Morales-Perez, C. L., Noviello, C. M., & Hibbs, R. E. (2016b). X-ray structure of the human α4β2 nicotinic receptor. *Nature*, *538*(7625), 411–415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19785</u>

Morales-Perez, C. L., Noviello, C. M., & Hibbs, R. E. (2016c). X-ray structure of the human α4β2 nicotinic receptor. *Nature*, *538*(7625), 411–415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19785</u>

Moyle, W. R., Campbell, R. K., Myers, R. V., Bernard, M. P., Han, Y., & Wang, X. (1994). Coevolution of ligand-receptor pairs. *Nature*, *368*(6468), 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/368251a0

Niciura, S. C. M., Tizioto, P. C., Moraes, C. V., Cruvinel, G. G., de Albuquerque, A. C. A., Santana, R. C. M., Chagas, A. C. de S., Esteves, S. N., Benavides, M. V., & do Amarante, A. F. T. (2019). Extreme-QTL mapping of monepantel resistance in Haemonchus contortus. *Parasites & Vectors*, *12*(1), 403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-019-3663-9</u>

Nielsen, B. S., Banke, T. G., Schousboe, A., & Pickering, D. S. (1998). Pharmacological properties of homomeric and heteromeric GluR10 and GluR30 receptors. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *360*(2–3), 227–238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(98)00668-2</u>

Nielsen, R. (2003). Estimating the Distribution of Selection Coefficients from Phylogenetic Data with Applications to Mitochondrial and Viral DNA. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 20(8), 1231–1239. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msg147

Ohno, S. (1970). *Evolution by Gene Duplication*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-86659-3

Otto, S., & Yong, P. (2002). 16 The evolution of gene duplicates. In *Advances in Genetics* (Vol. 46, pp. 451–483). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2660(02)46017-8</u>

Pan, Y., Ripps, H., & Qian, H. (2006). Random Assembly of GABA ρ1 and ρ2 Subunits in the Formation of Heteromeric GABA C Receptors. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, *26*(3), 289–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-006-9001-8

Papp, B., Pál, C., & Hurst, L. D. (2003). Dosage sensitivity and the evolution of gene families in yeast. *Nature*, 424(6945), 194–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01771</u>

Peden, A. S., Mac, P., Fei, Y.-J., Castro, C., Jiang, G., Murfitt, K. J., Miska, E. A., Griffin, J. L., Ganapathy, V., & Jorgensen, E. M. (2013). Betaine acts on a ligand-gated ion channel in the nervous system of the nematode C. elegans. *Nature Neuroscience*, *16*(12), 1794–1801. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3575

Pedersen, J. E., Bergqvist, C. A., & Larhammar, D. (2019). Evolution of vertebrate nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, *19*(1), 38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-018-1341-8</u>

Pereira, C. A., Sayé, M., Reigada, C., Silber, A. M., Labadie, G. R., Miranda, M. R., & Valera-Vera, E. (2020). Computational approaches for drug discovery against trypanosomatid-caused diseases. *Parasitology*, *147*(6), 611–633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182020000207</u>

Perica, T., Chothia, C., & Teichmann, S. A. (2012). Evolution of oligomeric state through geometric coupling of protein interfaces. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(21), 8127–8132. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1120028109

Phulera, S., Zhu, H., Yu, J., Claxton, D. P., Yoder, N., Yoshioka, C., & Gouaux, E. (2018). Cryo-EM structure of the benzodiazepine-sensitive  $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 2S$  tri-heteromeric GABAA receptor in complex with GABA. *ELife*, 7, e39383. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.39383</u>

Pless, S. A., & Sivilotti, L. G. (2018). A tale of ligands big and small: An update on how pentameric ligand-gated ion channels interact with agonists and proteins. *Current Opinion in Physiology*, *2*, 19–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cophys.2017.12.012</u>

Pougach, K., Voet, A., Kondrashov, F. A., Voordeckers, K., Christiaens, J. F., Baying, B., Benes, V., Sakai, R., Aerts, J., Zhu, B., Van Dijck, P., & Verstrepen, K. J. (2014). Duplication of a promiscuous transcription factor drives the emergence of a new regulatory network. *Nature Communications*, *5*(1), 4868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5868</u>

Price, M. N., Deutschbauer, A. M., Skerker, J. M., Wetmore, K. M., Ruths, T., Mar, J. S., Kuehl, J. V., Shao, W., & Arkin, A. P. (2013). Indirect and suboptimal control of gene expression is widespread in bacteria. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 9(1), 660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/msb.2013.16</u>

Purohit, P., & Auerbach, A. (2013). Loop C and the mechanism of acetylcholine receptor-channel gating. *The Journal of General Physiology*, *141*(4), 467–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201210946</u> Putrenko, I., Zakikhani, M., & Dent, J. A. (2005). A Family of Acetylcholine-gated Chloride Channel Subunits in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *280*(8), 6392–6398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M412644200</u>

Qian, W., Liao, B.-Y., Chang, A. Y.-F., & Zhang, J. (2010). Maintenance of duplicate genes and their functional redundancy by reduced expression. *Trends in Genetics*, *26*(10), 425–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2010.07.002

Qian, W., & Zhang, J. (2014). Genomic evidence for adaptation by gene duplication. *Genome Research*, 24(8), 1356–1362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.172098.114</u>

Raltschev, C., Hetsch, F., Winkelmann, A., Meier, J. C., & Semtner, M. (2016). Electrophysiological Signature of Homomeric and Heteromeric Glycine Receptor Channels. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(34), 18030–18040. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.735084

Rastogi, S., & Liberles, D. A. (2005). Subfunctionalization of duplicated genes as a transition state to neofunctionalization. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, *5*(1), 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-5-28</u>

Reams, A. B., & Roth, J. R. (2015). Mechanisms of Gene Duplication and Amplification. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(2), a016592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016592</u>

Richard, M., Boulin, T., Robert, V. J. P., Richmond, J. E., & Bessereau, J.-L. (2013). Biosynthesis of ionotropic acetylcholine receptors requires the evolutionarily conserved ER membrane complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(11), E1055–E1063.

```
https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1216154110
```

Richmond, J. E., & Jorgensen, E. M. (1999). One GABA and two acetylcholine receptors function at the C. elegans neuromuscular junction. *Nature Neuroscience*, *2*(9), 791–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/12160

Riehle, M. M., Bennett, A. F., & Long, A. D. (n.d.). *Genetic architecture of thermal adaptation in Escherichia coli*. 6.

Ritz, C., Baty, F., Streibig, J. C., & Gerhard, D. (2015). Dose-Response Analysis Using R. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(12), e0146021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146021</u>

Rodrigo, G., & Fares, M. A. (2018). Intrinsic adaptive value and early fate of gene duplication revealed by a bottom-up approach. *ELife*, 7, e29739. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.29739</u>

Roth, C., Rastogi, S., Arvestad, L., Dittmar, K., Light, S., Ekman, D., & Liberles, D. A. (2007). Evolution after gene duplication: Models, mechanisms, sequences, systems, and organisms. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution*, 308B(1), 58–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.b.21124</u>

Rufener, L., Bedoni, N., Baur, R., Rey, S., Glauser, D. A., Bouvier, J., Beech, R., Sigel, E., & Puoti, A. (2013). Acr-23 Encodes a Monepantel-Sensitive Channel in Caenorhabditis elegans. *PLoS Pathogens*, *9*(8), e1003524. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003524</u>

Rufener, L., Keiser, J., Kaminsky, R., Mäser, P., & Nilsson, D. (2010). Phylogenomics of Ligand-Gated Ion Channels Predicts Monepantel Effect. *PLoS Pathogens*, *6*(9), e1001091. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1001091

Rufener, L., Mäser, P., Roditi, I., & Kaminsky, R. (2009). Haemonchus contortus Acetylcholine Receptors of the DEG-3 Subfamily and Their Role in Sensitivity to Monepantel. *PLoS Pathogens*, 5(4), e1000380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000380</u>

Sakmann, B., & Neher, E. (n.d.). Patch Clamp Techniques for Studying Ionic Channels in Excitable Membranes. 21.

Salari, R., Murlidaran, S., & Brannigan, G. (2014). Pentameric ligand-gated ion channels: Insights from computation. *Molecular Simulation*, *40*(10–11), 821–829. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927022.2014.896462 Saragoza, P. A., Modir, J. G., Goel, N., French, K. L., Li, L., Nowak, W., & Stitzel, J. A. (2003a). Identification of an alternatively processed nicotinic receptor a7 subunit RNA in mouse brain. *Molecular Brain Research*, 12.

Saragoza, P. A., Modir, J. G., Goel, N., French, K. L., Li, L., Nowak, W., & Stitzel, J. A. (2003b). Identification of an alternatively processed nicotinic receptor a7 subunit RNA in mouse brain. *Molecular Brain Research*, 12.

Schorge, S., & Colquhoun, D. (2003). Studies of NMDA Receptor Function and Stoichiometry with Truncated and Tandem Subunits. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *23*(4), 1151–1158. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-04-01151.2003

Schrider, D. R., Houle, D., Lynch, M., & Hahn, M. W. (2013). Rates and Genomic Consequences of Spontaneous Mutational Events in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics*, *194*(4), 937–954. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.113.151670</u>

Serrato-Capuchina, A., & Matute, D. (2018). The Role of Transposable Elements in Speciation. *Genes*, 9(5), 254. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9050254</u>

Siddiqui, S. Z., Brown, D. D. R., Rao, V. T. S., & Forrester, S. G. (2010). An UNC-49 GABA receptor subunit from the parasitic nematode *Haemonchus contortus* is associated with enhanced GABA sensitivity in nematode heteromeric channels. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06651.x

Sigel, E. (1987). Properties of single sodium channels translated by Xenopus oocytes after injection with messenger ribonucleic acid. *The Journal of Physiology*, *386*(1), 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1987.sp016523

Silverman, G. A., Luke, C. J., Bhatia, S. R., Long, O. S., Vetica, A. C., Perlmutter, D. H., & Pak, S. C. (2009). Modeling Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Human Disease Using the Nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Pediatric Research*, 65(1), 10–18.

https://doi.org/10.1203/PDR.0b013e31819009b0

Sironi, M., Menozzi, G., Comi, G. P., Cereda, M., Cagliani, R., Bresolin, N., & Pozzoli, U. (2006). Subfunctionalization of duplicated genes as a transition state to neofunctionalization. *Genome Biology*, 7(12), R120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2006-7-12-r120</u>

Sloan, M. A., Reaves, B. J., Maclean, M. J., Storey, B. E., & Wolstenholme, A. J. (2015). Expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits from parasitic nematodes in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, *204*(1), 44–50.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2015.12.006

Taly, A., Hénin, J., Changeux, J.-P., & Cecchini, M. (2014). Allosteric regulation of pentameric ligandgated ion channels: An emerging mechanistic perspective. *Channels*, 8(4), 350–360. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/chan.29444</u>

Tasneem, A., Iyer, L. M., Jakobsson, E., & Aravind, L. (2004). Identification of the prokaryotic ligandgated ion channels and their implications for the mechanisms and origins of animal Cys-loop ion channels. *Genome Biology*, 12.

Taylor, J. S., & Raes, J. (2004). Duplication and Divergence: The Evolution of New Genes and Old Ideas. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 38(1), 615–643.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genet.38.072902.092831

The structure of the nervous system of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. (1986). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *B, Biological Sciences*, *314*(1165), 1–340. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1986.0056

Thompson, A. J., Lester, H. A., & Lummis, S. C. R. (2010). The structural basis of function in Cys-loop receptors. *Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics*, *43*(4), 449–499. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033583510000168 Thompson, A., Vo, D., Comfort, C., & Zakon, H. H. (2014). Expression Evolution Facilitated the Convergent Neofunctionalization of a Sodium Channel Gene. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *31*(8), 1941–1955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu145</u>

Thompson, A., Zakon, H. H., & Kirkpatrick, M. (2016). Compensatory Drift and the Evolutionary Dynamics of Dosage-Sensitive Duplicate Genes. *Genetics*, 202(2), 765–774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.115.178137</u>

Thomsen, M. S., Zwart, R., Ursu, D., Jensen, M. M., Pinborg, L. H., Gilmour, G., Wu, J., Sher, E., & Mikkelsen, J. D. (2015). A7 and β2 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Subunits Form Heteromeric Receptor Complexes that Are Expressed in the Human Cortex and Display Distinct Pharmacological Properties. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(6), e0130572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130572</u>

Touroutine, D., Fox, R. M., Von Stetina, S. E., Burdina, A., Miller, D. M., & Richmond, J. E. (2005). *Acr-16* Encodes an Essential Subunit of the Levamisole-resistant Nicotinic Receptor at the *Caenorhabditis elegans* Neuromuscular Junction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(29), 27013– 27021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M502818200</u>

Tozawa, R., Ishibashi, S., Osuga, J., Yamamoto, K., Yagyu, H., Ohashi, K., Tamura, Y., Yahagi, N., Iizuka, Y., Okazaki, H., Harada, K., Gotoda, T., Shimano, H., Kimura, S., Nagai, R., & Yamada, N. (2001). Asialoglycoprotein Receptor Deficiency in Mice Lacking the Major Receptor Subunit: ITS OBLIGATE REQUIREMENT FOR THE STABLE EXPRESSION OF OLIGOMERIC RECEPTOR. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *276*(16), 12624–12628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M011063200</u> Treinin, M., Gillo, B., Liebman, L., & Chalfie, M. (1998). Two functionally dependent acetylcholine subunits are encoded in a single Caenorhabditis elegans operon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(26), 15492–15495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.26.15492</u>

Turnbull, F., Devaney, E., Morrison, A. A., Laing, R., & Bartley, D. J. (2019). Genotypic characterisation of monepantel resistance in historical and newly derived field strains of Teladorsagia circumcincta. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, *11*, 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2019.10.002

Unwin, N. (1995). Acetylcholine receptor channel imaged in the open state. *Nature*, *373*(6509), 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/373037a0

Van Arnam, E. B., & Dougherty, D. A. (2014). Functional Probes of Drug–Receptor Interactions Implicated by Structural Studies: Cys-Loop Receptors Provide a Fertile Testing Ground: Miniperspective. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *57*(15), 6289–6300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jm500023m</u>

Verrall, S., & Hall, Z. W. (1992). The N-terminal domains of acetylcholine receptor subunits contain recognition signals for the initial steps of receptor assembly. *Cell*, *68*(1), 23–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90203-O</u>

Vicens, A., Vinuesa, P., Arenas, M., & Treviño, C. L. (2019). Analyzing the functional divergence of Slo1 and Slo3 channel subfamilies. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, *133*, 33–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2018.12.026</u>

Voglis, G., & Tavernarakis, N. (2006). The role of synaptic ion channels in synaptic plasticity. *EMBO Reports*, 7(11), 1104–1110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400830</u>

Von Stetina, S. E., Watson, J. D., Fox, R. M., Olszewski, K. L., Spencer, W. C., Roy, P. J., & Miller, D. M. (2007). Cell-specific microarray profiling experiments reveal a comprehensive picture of gene expression in the C. elegans nervous system. *Genome Biology*, 8(7), R135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2007-8-7-r135</u>

Wang, S., Zhu, X., & Cai, X. (2017). Gene Duplication Analysis Reveals No Ancient Whole Genome Duplication but Extensive Small-Scale Duplications during Genome Evolution and Adaptation of Schistosoma mansoni. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *7*, 412. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00412</u> Wang, Y., Jadhav, A., Southal, N., Huang, R., & Nguyen, D.-T. (2010). A Grid Algorithm for High Throughput Fitting of Dose-Response Curve Data. *Current Chemical Genomics*, *4*, 57–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1875397301004010057</u>

Williamson, S. M., Robertson, A. P., Brown, L., Williams, T., Woods, D. J., Martin, R. J., Sattelle, D. B., & Wolstenholme, A. J. (2009). The Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors of the Parasitic Nematode Ascaris suum: Formation of Two Distinct Drug Targets by Varying the Relative Expression Levels of Two Subunits. *PLoS Pathogens*, 5(7), e1000517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000517</u>
Williamson, S. M., Walsh, T. K., & Wolstenholme, A. J. (2007). The cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel

gene family of Brugia malayi and Trichinella spiralis: A comparison with Caenorhabditis elegans. *Invertebrate Neuroscience*, 7(4), 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10158-007-0056-0

Wolstenholme, A. J. (2011). Ion channels and receptor as targets for the control of parasitic nematodes. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*, *1*(1), 2–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpddr.2011.09.003

Xu, L., Yang, J., Xu, M., Shan, D., Wu, Z., & Yuan, D. (2020). Speciation and adaptive evolution reshape antioxidant enzymatic system diversity across the phylum Nematoda. *BMC Biology*, *18*(1), 181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-020-00896-z</u>

Yakel, J. L. (2010). Gating of nicotinic ACh receptors: Latest insights into ligand binding and function: Nicotinic ACh receptors: transitions from binding to function. *The Journal of Physiology*, *588*(4), 597–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2009.182691</u>

Yang, Z. (2007). PAML 4: Phylogenetic Analysis by Maximum Likelihood. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 24(8), 1586–1591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msm088</u>

Yang, Zhenzhen, Wafula, E. K., Honaas, L. A., Zhang, H., Das, M., Fernandez-Aparicio, M., Huang, K., Bandaranayake, P. C. G., Wu, B., Der, J. P., Clarke, C. R., Ralph, P. E., Landherr, L., Altman, N. S., Timko, M. P., Yoder, J. I., Westwood, J. H., & dePamphilis, C. W. (2015). Comparative Transcriptome Analyses Reveal Core Parasitism Genes and Suggest Gene Duplication and Repurposing as Sources of Structural Novelty. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *32*(3), 767–790. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu343

Yassin, L., Gillo, B., Kahan, T., Halevi, S., Eshel, M., & Treinin, M. (2001). Characterization of the DEG-3/DES-2 Receptor: A Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor That Mutates to Cause Neuronal Degeneration. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *17*(3), 589–599. https://doi.org/10.1006/mcne.2000.0944

You, H., Liu, C., Du, X., & McManus, D. (2017). Acetylcholinesterase and Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors in Schistosomes and Other Parasitic Helminths. *Molecules*, 22(9), 1550. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22091550

Zarowiecki, M., & Berriman, M. (2015). What helminth genomes have taught us about parasite evolution. *Parasitology*, *142*(S1), S85–S97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182014001449</u>

Zerangue, N., Schwappach, B., Jan, Y. N., & Jan, L. Y. (1999). A New ER Trafficking Signal Regulates the Subunit Stoichiometry of Plasma Membrane KATP Channels. *Neuron*, *22*(3), 537–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80708-4

Zhang, J. (2003). Evolution by gene duplication: An update. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *18*(6), 292–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00033-8</u>

Zhao, G., He, F., Wu, C., Li, P., Li, N., Deng, J., Zhu, G., Ren, W., & Peng, Y. (2018). Betaine in Inflammation: Mechanistic Aspects and Applications. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *9*, 1070. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01070</u>

Zhao, J., Teufel, A. I., Liberles, D. A., & Liu, L. (2015). A generalized birth and death process for modeling the fates of gene duplication. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, *15*(1), 275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-015-0539-2</u>
Zouridakis, M., Zisimopoulou, P., Poulas, K., & Tzartos, S. J. (2009). Recent advances in understanding the structure of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *IUBMB Life*, *61*(4), 407–423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.170</u>